
 
 
 

Project (Date)   1 

FOREST GROVE RETREAT AGENDA 
 
DATE: SEPTEMBER 11, 2020 
TIME: 5 PM TO 8 PM 
LOCATION: ZOOM (INSTRUCTIONS TO FOLLOW)  
 

NOTICE:  VIDEO CONFERENCE WORK SESSION CHANNEL 30 LIVE 
The City Council will convene and be video conferencing remotely during the above-noted 
work session. The Council will take no formal action during the work session. The public may 
attend and observe in the Community Auditorium as space allows, 1915 Main Street. Social 
distancing protocols. However, the Council encourages the public to observe the meeting 
through technology rather than in person. The work session will be televised live by Tualatin 
Valley Community Television (TVCTV) Government Access Programming LIVE Channel 30 
and Live Streamed on MACC TVCTV YouTube Channel 30. For questions/concerns, please 
e-mail aruggles@forestgrove-or.gov or call 503.992.3235. 

 
DRAFT 
 
Outcomes:  

 Improved understanding of the purpose and connection of the Council Rules, 
Charter, and Council Agreements; 

 Improved understanding of Council communication protocols and 
recommendations for rule updates; 

 Clear understanding of Council, Councilor, Mayor, and Council President roles 
and responsibilities; and  

 Build a cohesive team prepared to move forward and address Council goals and 
objectives.  

 
 

1. Agenda Overview 
a. Introductions + Role Review 
b. Agenda + Session Outcomes Review 
c. Ground Rules (Review/update from Feb. Council Retreat, review 

technology use tips and guidelines) 
2. Review Background Information 

a. Timeline of Events – what happened, when it happened, and who was 
involved 

b. Gather questions, comments, points of clarification- this will be an 
opportunity to have a shared understanding of what happened – address 
any differing perceptions or assumptions, and gather questions for 
continued discussion 

3. Overview of Charter, Rules, and Team Agreements 
a. Facilitated discussion 

4. Council Roles + Responsibilities 
a. Facilitated discussion 

http://tvctv.org/?page_id=550
http://tvctv.org/?page_id=550
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCFB1lFntPi-8bt_C1EbqFQA
mailto:aruggles@forestgrove-or.gov


 
 
 

Project (Date)   2 

5. Communication Discussion 
a. Review any existing protocols/identified issues 

i. External communications: statements to media, use of title, use of 
website, use of letterhead 

ii. Interaction with city staff and city attorney 
iii. Internal communications: serial meetings 
iv. Others that come up in discussion 

b. Facilitated discussion 
6. Wrap Up + Next Steps 

 
 



{00733314; 1 }CITY OF FOREST GROVE            P.O. BOX 326          FOREST GROVE, OR  97116-0326            503-992-3200          
www.forestgrove-or.gov 

 

 
 

CITY COUNCIL STAFF MEMORANDUM  

   
TO: City Council  

FROM: Jesse VanderZanden, City Manager 
Ashley Driscoll, City Attorney 

MEETING DATE: September 11, 2020, 5:00-8:00 p.m. 

SUBJECT TITLE: “Mini-Retreat” Work Session: Councilor Roles, Responsibilities, and 
Communications 

 

BACKGROUND: 
During the City Council work session and regular meeting on August 10, 2020 City Councilors asked a variety 
of questions related to the Mayor and Council President’s open letter to the community from July 2020, 
Councilor Rippe’s letter to the community, and Councilor Uhing’s letter to the Council. The central theme of 
the discussions was about what councilor communications are permitted, the role of the mayor and council 
president, and the roles and responsibilities of individual councilors and the Council as a governing body. 
There was a consensus at the end of the meeting to have a “mini-retreat” work session to discuss these 
issues openly and transparently.  
 
To prepare for the work session, each Councilor was offered a meeting with the City Manager and/or City 
Attorney. Each Councilor was asked a standard list of questions in follow up to the August 10th meeting to 
help assure the agenda accurately reflected the consensus from the August 10th City Council meeting. City 
staff compiled notes from these meetings and provided them to the facilitator who developed the agenda 
and meeting format.1 Sara Wilson, President of SSW Consulting, will be facilitating the mini-retreat. Please 
recall Sara facilitated the 2020 annual retreat. Staff, legal counsel, and the facilitator have tried to assure the 
agenda is inclusive and allow for ample discussion of the issues raised at the August 10 City Council meeting.  
 
These issues in the open letter came to light during exigent and rare circumstances that were deemed by 
some to require swift and decisive action.  During times such as these, City staff and members of the Council 
must look to previously agreed upon roles, responsibilities, and rules to establish a path forward.  If the 
circumstance is not clearly delineated, individuals must make decisions based upon the best interpretation 
of the existing roles, responsibilities, and rules. It is often the case that reasonable minds can differ if these 
decisions were the right decisions under the circumstances. 
However, after these types of circumstances occur—while infrequent – it presents an opportunity for all 
parties to self-reflect and review what could be improved upon and likewise, implement measures to assure 
those improvements become established policy with the goal of building and maintaining stronger, more 

                                                 
1 Several issues were brought up after these meetings including adding a member to CPAC, long-term COVID planning, and 

hosting a citizen’s academy entitled Government Engagement 101 to promote the City’s DEI efforts. These issues have been 

brought up with the facilitator who will endeavor to accommodate some open discussion for all Councilors.   

CITY RECORDER USE ONLY: 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM #: Work Session  
  

MEETING DATE: 09-11-2020 
 

FINAL ACTION:  

 

Council Mini-Retreat 

 



Page 2 of 11 

 

{00733314; 1 } 

collaborative, and trusting relationships with each other. The focus of the meeting today is on Council roles, 
responsibilities, and communications and if the Council believes it is necessary to update the documents 
that govern them to assist the Council in moving forward. 
 
AGENDA: 
The proposed draft agenda is attached. As you may note, it lists possible outcomes and outlines how to 
achieve them during the meeting. The facilitator will affirm the agenda, establish ground rules, review the 
timeline of events preceding the mini-retreat, gather questions and comments, and then facilitate 
discussion. The facilitator is recommending that Zoom be used for the virtual mini-retreat of which further 
instructions will follow.  
 
OVERVIEW: 
 

I. CITY CHARTER, COUNCIL RULES, TEAM AGREEMENT, GOALS AND OBJECTIVES, and CITY COUNCIL 
ORIENTATION 
 

The City Charter is the foundational governing document of the City. The City Charter can only be changed 
by the voters of Forest Grove. The Council Rules – often referred to as Rules for Conducting City Council 
Meetings - implements the City Charter. The Council Rules cannot conflict with or alter the City Charter, but 
can further define the terms and delegated authorities established in the Charter. In other words, the 
Council Rules fill in many of the details left out of the Charter. The City Council can modify or amend the 
Council Rules by resolution, provided the amendments are consistent with the City Charter. 
 
For example, the Charter provides that the mayor “facilitates” meetings. The Council Rules discusses how 
the mayor fulfills this rule:  how meetings are called, what items are on the agenda, what proclamations are 
read, etc.  
 
The City Council interprets both the City Charter and the Council Rules. If ambiguity exists about either 
document, or, if the Council wishes to implement a new policy, the Council votes to either refer it to the 
voters (if changing the Charter) or to amend the Council Rules by resolution.  
 
The current City Charter and Council Rules are based on a template provided by the League of Oregon Cities 
in 2009. These documents are similar to many cities across Oregon, varying to the extent other cities have 
amended their charter or rules. With the exception of Boards and Commissions (2019) and scheduling 
agenda items (2016), the Forest Grove Council Rules have not been updated since 2009.  
 
The League of Oregon Cities (LOC) updated their model council rules – entitled “Model Rules of Procedure 
for Council Meetings” - in 2017. This template has been used by many cities as the basis for their council 
rules.  The 2017 LOC model council rules have been expanded from the prior LOC model council rules in that 
they address council communications, statements to the media, censure and removal, and communications 
with staff and the city attorney.   
 



Page 3 of 11 

 

{00733314; 1 } 

The Team Agreement is unique to Forest Grove. It was implemented in approximately 2005 and has been 
adopted and/or amended either by consensus or resolution every year since. The purpose of the document 
is to outline Councilor conduct during the City Council meeting. One question that persists regarding the 
Team Agreement is if it serves essentially the same purpose as the Council Rules as many of the items in the 
Team Agreement are also addressed in whole or part in the Council Rules, including, but not limited to, 
Council Rule Sections 2, 3, 4, and 5. This relationship has caused confusion. 
 
The Goals and Objectives are common to nearly every city, are required by the Council Rules, and are passed 
by Council resolution. However, the scope, breadth, and detail of the goals and objectives vary significantly 
from city to city. The reason the goals and objectives are mentioned here is that on page 13, the City Council 
expressed some communication commitments. These commitments are similar to communication rules in 
the Council Rules and Team Agreement and can be used as reference for potential rule updates.  
 
The City Council Orientation is a document that is used to orient new city councilors. It contains sections 
from the Charter, Council Rules, Team Agreement, and importantly, past practices that are established 
precedent, however, are not included in the Council Rules. There are three main examples of this: 1) news 
media: it stipulates the role of the city manager, however, it does not stipulate the role of the councilor, 2) 
communications between councilors and city staff, and 3) use of letterhead by councilors. 
 
II. SPECIFIC AREAS OF CONCERN 
 

(a) Outside Statements and Communications  
 
In the past, City of Forest Grove council members and the mayor have been at liberty to make statements to 
the media, other organizations and community groups as they saw fit. Councilors have demonstrated 
through participation in these organizations that they understand that when making such statements they 
need to distinguish between their personal viewpoints and the Council’s official positions.  
 
Councilors and the mayor have attended meetings with non-profits and community groups, with and 
without Council direction, and are encouraged to report back to the Council during Council Communications. 
Councilors do not need permission to attend these meetings and are free to express themselves at these 
meetings identifying themselves as “Councilor,” provided they distinguish between their personal 
viewpoints and the Council’s official positions. Examples include attending the Westside Economic Alliance, 
Chamber of Commerce, Advisory Boards, Metropolitan Mayors, Metro Policy Advisory Committee, LOC 
committees, and working groups and technical committees.  
 
Any councilor may request the use of city letterhead. The provisions for doing so are not contained in the 
Charter or Council Rules but rather in the City Council Orientation document. The mayor has communicated 
on City letterhead and posted items on the City’s home page and social media pages on occasion. Some 
examples include 1) letters of support on City letterhead for non-profit grant applications, 2) letters of 
support on City letterhead taking a legislative position provided the position was consistent with the 
Council’s adoption of legislative priorities, and, more recently, 3) updates to the community on COVID-
related issues not on City letterhead that were posted to the website and social media.  



Page 4 of 11 

 

{00733314; 1 } 

 
Specific to some of the recent issues, some councilors raised the issue that the open letter gave the 
impression it was from the Council and that posting it on the city website and social media was not 
permitted under the Council’s governing documents. Neither the Forest Grove City Charter, Council Rules, or 
Team Agreement address how and when members of Council or the mayor may make statements to the 
media and other organizations.   
 
The only mention of the use of letterhead in any city document is in the City Council Orientation which 
states that councilors may use letterhead provided they do not state “on behalf of the City Council”. The 
orientation materials further state that letters of thank you, congratulations, etc., do not require Council 
approval and can be sent by a councilor on letterhead. The orientation materials, however, have not been 
officially adopted by Council.  The Council may want to consider whether portions of these materials that 
have been longstanding practice should be included in the Council Rules. 
 
If the Council believes additional rules are necessary, the Council may amend the Council Rules. The LOC 
model rules and other cities have addressed some of these issues and may provide some guidance if the 
Council is interested in making amendments.   
 
LOC Model Council Rules:  
 
II. Statements to the Media and Other Organizations:  
 
A. Representing City. If a member of the council, to include the mayor, appears as a representative of the city 
before another governmental agency, the media or an organization to give a statement on an issue, the 
member may only state the official position of the city, as approved by a majority of the council. 
 
B. Personal Opinions. If a member of the council, to include the mayor, appears in their personal capacity 
before another governmental agency, the media or an organization to give a statement on an issue, the 
member must state they are expressing their own opinion and not that of the city before giving their 
statement. 
 

Examples from Other Cities 
 
City of Hillsboro and City of Cornelius:  
 
1. Representing City. If a member of the City Council appears before another governmental agency or 
organization to give a statement on an issue, the member must state:  
 
a. Whether the statement reflects personal opinion or is the official position of the City; and  
 
b. Whether the statement is supported by a majority of the City Council. If the member is representing the 
City, the member must support and advocate for the official City position on the issue rather than a personal 
viewpoint. 



Page 5 of 11 

 

{00733314; 1 } 

  
City of Hillsboro:  

  
3. Organizations and Media.  
 
a. If a member of the City Council represents the City before another governmental agency, a community 
organization or the media, the member should first state the Council majority position. Personal opinions and 
comments should be expressed only if the member makes clear that he or she does not express the City 
Council position.  
 
b. Members of the City Council should obtain the appropriate permission before representing another 
member’s view or position with the media. 
  

City of Tigard 
 
Communications on Behalf of the City or the Council  

- Do not provide the official response to communications directed to the full council.  The city manager 
or mayor will coordinate the response on behalf of the city.  It is appropriate for councilors to 
acknowledge receipt of communication and thank the sender. 

- It is the policy of the council that if councilors are contacted regarding labor relations during labor 
negotiations or conflict resolution proceedings, the councilors should have no comment. 

- Communication that represent the city’s position on an issue should come through city hall and be 
provided by the city manager.  Direct submittals or inquires to the council or individual councilors 
should be referred to the city manager, or councilors may ask the city manager to look into an issue. 

- Make no promises on behalf of the council in unofficial settings.  Council members will frequently be 
asked to explain a council action or give their opinion about an issue as they meet and talk with 
citizens.  It is appropriate to give a brief overview.  Overt or implicit promises of specific actions 
promises that city staff will take specific actions are to be avoided.     

 
City of Bend 

 
- 1.030 Confidentiality; Outside Statements Council members will keep confidential materials, such as 

materials distributed in executive session and confidential legal memoranda provided by the City 
Attorney, in complete confidence to ensure that the City's position is not compromised. No mention of 
confidential information read or heard should be made to anyone other than other Council members, 
the City Manager, or responsible department heads unless the Council as a whole has decided to 
waive the privilege to keep the material confidential.  

- (1) If the Council in executive session provides direction or consensus to staff on proposed terms and 
conditions for any type of negotiation whether it be related to property acquisition or disposal, 
pending or likely claim or litigation, or employee negotiations, all contact with other parties shall be 
made by designated staff or representatives handling the negotiations or litigation. A Council 
member will not communicate any executive session discussion outside of the executive session 
except as authorized by Council.  



Page 6 of 11 

 

{00733314; 1 } 

- (2) All public statements, information, or press releases relating to a confidential matter will be 
handled by designated staff or the Mayor or a designated Council member.  

- (3) The Council, by resolution or motion, may censure a member who discloses a confidential matter.  
- (4) If a member of the Council, including the Mayor, appears as a representative of the City before 

another governmental agency, the media or an organization to give a statement on an issue, the 
member may only state the official position of the City, as approved by a majority of the Council, to 
the extent such position is known and articulated. If a member of the Council, including the Mayor, 
appears in their personal capacity before another governmental agency, the media or an organization 
to give a statement on an issue, the member must state they are expressing their own opinion and 
not that of the City before giving their statement. 

 
Action Item:  the Council may discuss potential changes to the Council Rules and/or Charter or refer 
potential changes to a subcommittee for further analysis.  
 

(b) Role of Councilor 
 
The City Charter states the Council consists of the mayor and six councilors, all elected from the City at large. 
The Council has legislative, administrative, and quasi-judicial authority; exercised by ordinances, resolutions, 
and orders, respectively. These powers are not reserved to one person, rather, reserved to the Council as a 
body. Unless delegated specific authority, neither a member of council nor the mayor has any individual 
authority to bind or speak for the Council.   
 
The Council Rules provide some delegation of authority to individual Councilors.  Examples include council 
liaison (section 14.8) and council training (section 17).  Lastly, Section 4.2 of the Council Rules state that in 
the absence of the mayor and council president at a meeting where a quorum is present, the 
councilmember with the longest continuous service shall serve as presiding officer pro tem until such time 
the meeting is adjourned. 
 
One question that has persisted is how councilors may enforce the City Charter, Council Rules, and 
ordinances in the event they feel a councilor has violated them. At present, there are no censure and 
removal provisions in any Council-approved document.  
 
The LOC Model Council Rules address this issue in stating:   
 
CHAPTER 10 – Censure [and Removal]  

- The council may enforce these rules and ensure compliance with city ordinances, charter and state 
laws applicable to governing bodies.  lf a member of council violates these rules, city ordinances, the 
city charter or state laws applicable to governing bodies, the council may take action to protect the 
integrity of the council and discipline the member with a public reprimand [or removal as provided for 
in the city charter].   

- II. The council may investigate the actions of any member of council and meet in executive session 
under ORS 192.660(2)(b) to discuss any finding that reasonable grounds exist that a violation of these 
rules, local ordinance, the city charter or state laws applicable to governing bodies has occurred.  



Page 7 of 11 

 

{00733314; 1 } 

Sufficient notice must be given to the affected member to afford them the opportunity to request an 
open hearing under ORS 192.660(2)(b).    

 
Action Item:  the role of the councilor is included here to provide additional context. However, if the 
Council believes it is necessary, the Council may discuss potential changes to the Council Rules and/or 
Charter or refer potential changes to a subcommittee for further analysis.  
 

(c) Role of the Mayor 
 

Section 8 of the Forest Grove City Charter provides the mayor has the following duties: 
(a) The Mayor presides over and facilitates Council meetings, preserves order, enforces Council rules, and 

determines the order of business under Council rules. 
(b) The Mayor is a voting member of the Council and has no veto authority. 
(c) The Mayor, with the consent of Council, appoints members of boards, commissions and committees 

established by ordinance or resolution. 
(d) The Mayor must sign all records of Council decisions. 
(e) The Mayor serves as the political head of the City government. 

 
As discussed above, where the Charter delegates general authority, the Council Rules provide additional 
detail and context.  This is particularly true in the role of the mayor. The Charter provides a general list of 
duties and the Council Rules (or City past practice) fill in the details.  
 
For example, the mayor’s obligation to fill the role as the “political head” of the City is ambiguous.  In Forest 
Grove, the Council has implemented that Charter provision by specifically granting the mayor the additional 
authority to make decisions regarding proclamations (section 13) and represent the City at the Oregon 
Mayor’s Association and receive additional training (section 17.2).  
 
However, the Council Rules do not provide the Mayor’s role as the “political head” is limited to these 
functions. The practice in Forest Grove has been that the mayor participates in various County and regional 
groups including, but not limited to, the League of Oregon Cities, Metropolitan Mayors Council, Metro Policy 
Advisory Committee, and the Joint Policy Advisory Committee. As discussed above, in Forest Grove the 
mayor has also drafted and posted communications on the City’s webpage and social media pages.   
 
Although many cities and the LOC Model Charter also include that the mayor is the “political head” of the 
City, individual city councils may interpret that term differently.  Because it is included in the Charter, cities 
must give the term some effect in the council rules, but the extent of those powers is up to each city.   
 
LOC Model Charter:  
 
Section 3.2.  Mayor.  The mayor presides over and facilitates council meetings, preserves order, enforces 
council rules, and determines the order of business under council rules.  The mayor is a voting member of the 
council and has no veto authority.15      



Page 8 of 11 

 

{00733314; 1 } 

 a) With the consent of council, the mayor appoints members of commissions and committees established by 
ordinance or resolution.  
 b) The mayor must sign all records of council decisions.16    
 c) The mayor serves as the political head of the city government.17  
  
Action Item:  the Council may discuss potential changes to the Council Rules and/or Charter or refer 
potential changes to a subcommittee for further analysis.  
 

(d) Role and Election of the Council President 
 

Section 9 of the City’s Charter, echoed in Section 4.2 of the Council Rules, provide that: “At its first meeting 
each year, the Council shall elect a President from its membership. The Council President presides in the 
absence of the Mayor and acts as Mayor when the Mayor is unable to perform duties.”  As a result, the City 
must have a council president and must elect that person in January of each year in order to comply with the 
City Charter.  The Council may limit the council president role to filling in for the mayor in his or her absence, 
or may grant the council president additional authority. The Council Rules (but not the City Charter) further 
stipulate that the councilmember with the longest continuous service shall serve as Presiding Officer pro 
tem until in the absence of the mayor and council president.  
 
In the open letter, the Council President co-signed along with the mayor as the only other council-elected 
leader.  Nothing in the Charter or Council Rules prohibits this communication.  Other cities have further 
developed (or restricted) the role of the council president.  
 
LOC Model Rules: 
 

- B. In the mayor’s absence the president of the council [Mayor Pro-Tem] shall preside over the 
meeting.  The president of the council shall retain all rights and privileges of the office of the mayor as 
set out in the city charter when acting in this capacity  

- C. If both the mayor and the president of the council [Mayor Pro-Tem] are absent from the meeting, 
the following procedure shall be utilized to determine who is the presiding officer:  

o 1. The city recorder [council secretary] shall call the council to order and call the roll of the 
members.  

o 2. Those members of council present shall elect, by majority vote, a temporary presiding 
officer for the meeting. When drafting a quorum requirement, ensure it complies with the city 
charter, which should indicate what constitutes a quorum and whether the mayor counts 
towards the quorum requirement.  

o 3. Should either the mayor or the president of the council arrive, the temporary presiding 
officer shall relinquish control of the meeting immediately upon the conclusion of the item 
presently being discussed. 4. The presiding officer shall retain all rights and privileges of a 
member of council when acting in this capacity. 

 
Action Item:  the Council may discuss potential changes to the Council Rules and/or Charter or refer 
potential changes to a subcommittee for further analysis.  



Page 9 of 11 

 

{00733314; 1 } 

 
III. Other Concerns  
 

(a) Serial Communications  
 
Under Oregon law, a quorum of a governing body is prohibited from “meeting” in private to discuss matter 
that members may later be asked to vote on. Oregon case law has expanded this prohibition to include not 
just in-person meetings, but also “serial communications” that happen over email, text message, social 
media or through conduits such as staff.   
 
This can be a confusing area where understandably some questions have arisen. Some common rules to 
keep in mind include:  
 

- Avoid replying to emails when government business information is shared via email. One-way sharing 
of information regarding agenda topics, meeting availability, and other administrative items is 
permitted, but back and forth conversations between governing body members through email 
should be avoided. 

- Avoid conversations (in person or via email) between councilors where the views of fellow members 
are shared. One-on-one or small group conversations are still permitted as long as the views or 
thoughts of other members are not shared during those conversations. The time, place, or manner of 
conversations does not matter so much as the number of members involved (a quorum) and the 
items discussed (government business). 

- Avoid sharing opinions or views on items that the governing body would need to vote on via social 
internet sites, email or its social gatherings where other members of your governing body may 
participate. Sharing thoughts, facts, information, or preferences on matters on which the governing 
body is working on should be aired publicly, but during the course of a properly noticed public 
meeting. 

 
Action Item:  none.  This information is provided for additional context and education.  
 

(b) Communication to City Attorney 
 
Forest Grove rules do not provide guidance on how and why members of council may contact or use the city 
attorney.  In the past, members of council have contacted the city attorney’s office on occasion to ask 
questions about Oregon ethics laws, city manager reviews, interactions between councilors and most 
recently with questions regarding a mural request.  The Council may want to consider how the LOC model 
rules and other cities address this issue.  
 
Section 9 of the LOC model rules provide the following: 
 
- City Attorney. Council members may make requests to the city attorney for advice no more than once a 

month, so long as the request does not require more than two hours of the attorney’s time. A councilor 



Page 10 of 11 

 

{00733314; 1 } 

may make additional requests within a month or make a request that exceeds two hours with the 
concurrence of the majority of the council. 

 
Alternatively the cities of Hillsboro and Gladstone provide the following: 
 
- Legal Advice: Requests to the City Attorney for advice requiring legal research may not be made by a 

Council member without the concurrence of the Council. Before requesting research or other action by 
the City Attorney, the Council members are encouraged to consider consulting with the City Administrator 
to determine if the request or action can be accomplished more cost-effectively. Outside a Council 
meeting, a Council member should make requests of the City Attorney through the City Administrator. 
Exceptions to this are issues related to the performance of the City Administrator and unique or sensitive 
personal, yet City business-related, requests. 

 
Action Item:  the Council may discuss potential changes to the Council Rules and/or Charter or refer 
potential changes to a subcommittee for further analysis.  
 

(c) Communication with City Staff 
 
Under the Forest Grove City Charter Section 33, the city manager manages city employees and coordinates 
communication between the council and staff.  Further, individual members of city council are admonished 
not to “directly or indirectly attempt to coerce the Manager or a candidate for that office in the 
appointment or removal of any City employee.” 
 
The Council Rules further define how staff and council members interact, including how council members 
should direct communications to staff during a council meeting (section 2.6) and the role of staff liaisons on 
committees.  However, similar to the role of the city attorney discussed above, the Forest Grove Council 
Rules are silent on if, how, and when councilors may make requests from members of staff.  
 
The LOC model rules more clearly establishes the separation between the council’s role and the city 
manager’s role with regards to city staff.  The LOC model rules provide the following: 
 

- Staff.  All members of the council shall respect the separation between the council’s role and the city’s 
manager’s [city administrator’s] responsibility by:  

o A. Not interfering with the day-to-day administration of city business, which is the 
responsibility of the city manager [city administrator].  

o B. Refraining from actions that would undermine the authority of the city manager [city 
administrator] or a department head.  

o C. Limiting individual inquiries and requests for information from staff to those questions that 
may be answered readily as part of staff’s day-to-day responsibilities.  Questions of a more 
complex nature shall be directed to the city manager [city administrator].  

 1. Questions from individual members of the council requiring significant time or 
resources (two hours or more) shall normally require approval of the council.  



Page 11 of 11 

 

{00733314; 1 } 

 2. Members of the council shall normally share any information obtained from staff 
with the entire council.  This section is not intended to apply to questions by members 
of the council acting in their individual capacities rather than as members of the 
council, nor to questions regarding conflict of interest or similar issues particular to a 
member of the council.  

 
Action Item:  the Council may discuss potential changes to the Council Rules and/or Charter or refer 
potential changes to a subcommittee for further analysis.  
 
NEXT STEPS 
Staff recommends each Councilor thoroughly review the updated League of Oregon Cities Model Rules of 
Procedure for Council Meetings. This updated document addresses many of the concerns expressed by 
Councilors that are not in the current council rules such as 1) outside statements, 2) interactions with staff 
and the City attorney, 3) censure and removal, 4) communication protocols and more.  
 
Staff also recommends Council consider the interrelationships between the Council Rules, Team Agreement, 
and City Council Orientation materials and whether these documents can be molded into the Council Rules 
and accomplish the same objective as all three documents separately. As with previous council rule changes, 
and because the Council Rules center on procedures for Council meetings, the Council may want to consider 
appointing a three member subcommittee of the Council to review the Council Rules, Team Agreement, and 
City Council Orientation, and make recommendations to the City Council for revision by resolution.  
 
Staff encourages the Council to discuss and seek consensus on whether to conduct a council rule review and 
if so, the scope of the rule review. The estimated time to complete this task would likely require 2-4 
subcommittee meetings followed by 1-2 Council work sessions.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 Draft Mini-Retreat Agenda 

 League of Oregon Cities Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings 

 Forest Grove City Charter 

 Forest Grove Council Rules 

 Forest Grove Team Agreement 

 Forest Grove Council Goals and Objectives 

 Forest Grove City Council Orientation 
 

https://www.forestgrove-or.gov/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/meeting/45351/cc09-11-2020a.council_work_session_mini-retreat_draft_agenda_-_ssw_consulting.pdf
https://www.orcities.org/application/files/1115/7228/7626/ModelRulesofProcedure3-15-19.pdf
https://www.forestgrove-or.gov/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/page/421/city_charter_of_forest_grove.enacted_may_19_2009.pdf
https://www.forestgrove-or.gov/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/page/17141/ccrules.2019adopted2019.pdf
https://www.forestgrove-or.gov/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/page/17141/ccteam_agreement.2020.exhibit_a.pdf
https://www.forestgrove-or.gov/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/page/431/reso.2020-36_adopt_city_council_goals_and_objectives_2020-2021_repealing_reso_2019-13.pdf
https://www.forestgrove-or.gov/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/page/17141/orientation_guidelines_for_cc.pdf


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Model Rules of Procedure 
for Council Meetings 

 

MARCH 2017 

 

L E A G U E  O F  O R E G O N  C I T I E S  

MODEL 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         2 

 
 

 

Model Rules of Procedure  
for Council Meetings 

Table of Contents 

 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................. 3 

Disclaimer ................................................................................................................................................................. 3 

CHAPTER 1 – General Governance ................................................................................................................... 4 

CHAPTER 2 – Meeting Time, Location and Frequency ............................................................................ 12 

CHAPTER 3 – Ordinances and Resolutions .................................................................................................. 15 

CHAPTER 4 – Land Use Hearings ..................................................................................................................... 19 

CHAPTER 5 – Motions, Debate, Public Comment and Voting ............................................................... 23 

CHAPTER 6 – Minutes ......................................................................................................................................... 27 

CHAPTER 7 – Appointments ............................................................................................................................. 28 

CHAPTER 8 – Ethics, Decorum, Outside Statements ................................................................................ 29 

CHAPTER 9 – Interactions with Staff & City Attorney ............................................................................... 30 

CHAPTER 10 – Censure [and Removal] ......................................................................................................... 31 

CHAPTER 11 – Amendment and Repeal ....................................................................................................... 32 

 

 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         3 

  

Introduction 
In Oregon, many city charters require a city council to establish rules of procedure for how 
council meetings will be governed, how appointments will be made and how council members 
are to interact with city employees.  Although those charters direct the council to create rules, the 
charters don’t provide substance or guidance on how to do so.  The purpose of this guide is to 
provide cities with a starting point in creating their rules of procedure, where required by the city 
charter, or where a council so desires. 

Establishing rules of procedure for council meetings has several benefits.  First, it allows for 
meetings to be run in an efficient and consistent manner.  Second, it allows for the council and 
residents to debate matters of public concern in a courteous and respectful manner that lessens 
the likelihood of discontent and friction.  Third, rules provide guidance to council members on 
how they are to interact and engage with city employees and members of the public.  Fourth, 
rules of procedure ensure continuity and stability during transition years when new members of 
the council are elected to office. 

These model rules are intended to provide a starting point for a city council needing to adopt or 
update its council rules.  Although comprehensive, they are not exhaustive, and council members 
should work together to identify areas in which rules are needed.   Similarly, these model rules 
are not intended to be the definitive statement on what a council should adopt.   City councils 
have a lot of discretion in determining how to conduct their business—and they should not feel 
constrained to adopt the rules as presented in this model, but rather to exercise their inherit 
discretion in crafting a set of rules that match their community’s culture, needs and values. 

Disclaimer 
The League’s Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings are not a substitute for legal 
advice.  To ensure compliance with federal, state, and any applicable local charters or 
ordinances, city officials drafting rules of procedure for council meetings are advised to seek the 
advice of their city attorney.   
  



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         4 

CHAPTER 1 – General Governance 
 

I. Rules of Procedure. 

A. Unless otherwise provided by charter, ordinance or these rules, the procedure for 
council meetings, and any subcommittee of a city council, shall be guided by 
Robert’s Rules of Order, 11th Edition. 

B. Members of the council are encouraged to avoid invoking the finer points of 
parliamentary procedure found within Robert’s Rules of Order when such points 
will obscure the issues before the council and confuse members of the public. 

C. Whenever these rules and Robert’s Rules of Order conflict, these rules shall 
govern.  

 
II. Quorum.  A quorum is required to conduct official city business.   

A. The members of the council are the city councilors and mayor.  Fifty-percent plus 
one of the members of the council shall constitute a quorum.  Vacancies in office 
do not count towards determining a quorum.1   

D. In the event a quorum is not present, the members of council present shall adjourn 
the meeting. 

 
III. Presiding Officer. 

A. The mayor shall preside over all meetings.  The mayor shall retain all rights and 
privileges of the office of the mayor as set out in the city charter when acting in 
this capacity. 

B. In the mayor’s absence the president of the council [Mayor Pro-Tem] shall 
preside over the meeting.  The president of the council shall retain all rights and 
privileges of the office of the mayor as set out in the city charter when acting in 
this capacity 

C. If both the mayor and the president of the council [Mayor Pro-Tem] are absent 
from the meeting, the following procedure shall be utilized to determine who is 
the presiding officer: 

1. The city recorder [council secretary] shall call the council to order and call 
the roll of the members. 

2. Those members of council present shall elect, by majority vote, a temporary 
presiding officer for the meeting. 

 
1 When drafting a quorum requirement, ensure it complies with the city charter, which should indicate what 
constitutes a quorum and whether the mayor counts towards the quorum requirement. 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         5 

3. Should either the mayor or the president of the council arrive, the temporary 
presiding officer shall relinquish control of the meeting immediately upon the 
conclusion of the item presently being discussed. 

4. The presiding officer shall retain all rights and privileges of a member of 
council when acting in this capacity. 

 
IV. Other Elected and Appointed Officers.2 

A. City Recorder.  The city recorder shall be the parliamentarian and shall advise the 
presiding officer on any questions of order.  Additionally, the city recorder shall 
keep the official minutes of the council. 

B. City Manager [City Administrator].  The city manager [city administrator] is 
required to attend all meetings of the council and is permitted to participate in any 
discussion; however, the city manager [city administrator] has no authority to 
cast a vote in any decision rendered by the council. 

C. City Attorney.  The city attorney may attend any meeting of the council, and will, 
upon request, give an opinion, either written or oral, on legal questions.  

V. Agendas.  The city manager [city administrator] shall prepare an agenda for every 
regular meeting, and, if requested by the presiding officer, for every special meeting. 

A. Agendas and informational material for meetings shall be distributed to the 
council at least three (3) days preceding the meeting.   

B. No council approval shall be required for an agenda of any meeting. 

C. The city manager [city administrator] may place routine items and items referred 
by staff on the agenda without council approval or action. 

D. The city manager [city administrator] may remove any items on the consent 
agenda, any item of old business, any resolution, or any ordinance placed for first 
reading from the agenda at any time prior to the time the meeting is convened.  
The presiding officer shall announce such removal under announcements/ 
proclamations.   

E. A member of the council who wishes to have an item placed on the agenda shall 
advise the city manager [city administrator] at least one week prior to the 
meeting.3 

 

 
2 Only those offices provided for by charter or ordinance should appear in this section. 
3 As an alternative, the council may wish to vote on whether a councilor’s item will be placed on the agenda for a 
decision or further action. 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         6 

VI. Order of Business.  The order of business for all regular meetings shall be as 
follows, however when it appears to be in the best interest of the public, the order of 
business may be changed for any single meeting by a majority vote: 

1. Call to order. 

2. Roll call. 

3. Announcements/proclamations.  

4. Reports of boards, commissions, committees, elected officials and city 
employees. 

5. Public comment on items on the agenda (other than public hearings). 

6. Consent agenda. 

7. Items removed from the consent agenda. 

8. Ordinances and resolutions. 

9. Public hearings. 

10. Appointments. 

11. Public comment on items not on the agenda. 

12. Adjournment. 
 

A. Call to Order.  The presiding chair shall call all meetings of the council to order.  
The call to order shall note the date, time and location of the meeting so that it 
may accurately be reflected in the minutes. 

B. Roll Call.  The city recorder [council secretary] shall conduct a roll call to 
determine which members of the council are present and which are absent.   

1. The attendance shall be properly reflected in the minutes. 

2. If roll call determines that a quorum is not present, the meeting shall be 
adjourned. 

C. Announcements/Proclamations.  Announcements are intended to be procedural in 
nature, such as an item being removed from the agenda.  Proclamations are 
awards or recognition of individuals by the council. 

D. Reports of Boards, Commissions, Committees, Elected Officials and City 
Employees.  When necessary, reports can be given to the council by boards, 
commissions committees, elected officials and/or city employees.    

 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         7 

1. When appropriate, reports to the council should include written materials 
which are provided to the council at least three days in advance of the 
meeting. 

2. Oral reports to the council should generally not exceed 10 minutes in length. 

3. The council may ask questions of the presenter upon conclusion of the report 
being given. 

E. Public Comment 

1. Two periods for public comment will be reserved for every regular meeting of 
the council.  Each period shall not exceed a maximum of 30 minutes, unless a 
majority of councilors present vote to extend the time.  Subject to the 
limitations contained in subsection H-5(e) of this section, the first period for 
public comment shall be limited to items placed on the agenda other than 
public hearings, and the second period of public comment shall be used to 
comment on any issue of city business, other than agenda items.  The 
presiding officer may, unless a member of council objects, allow a person who 
desires to make comment on an item not on the agenda to speak during the 
first comment period.  

2. Persons wishing to speak during public comment must sign the “speaker’s 
roster” with the person’s name and address and the topic upon which the 
person wishes to speak, not later than the call to order.  

3. Members of the public may speak about any topic during the last period for 
public comment, except as provided in H-5(d) of this rule. 

4. If a member of the public wishes to speak on an item that is scheduled for a 
public hearing at that same meeting, the speaker shall wait until that public 
hearing.  Public comment shall not be used to testify about a quasi-judicial 
land use matter, to testify on an item that is not a public matter, to testify on a 
matter which has been or is scheduled to be heard by a hearings official, or to 
provide or gather additional testimony or information on any matter after the 
official record has been closed on any matter which has been the subject of a 
public hearing. 

5. Speakers are limited to three minutes.  Generally, the speakers will be called 
upon in the order in which they have signed in on the speaker’s roster.   
Speakers shall identify themselves by their names and by their place of 
residence.  Speakers may state their mailing address [or the ward in which 
they reside].  The presiding officer may allow additional persons to speak  
if they have not signed the speaker’s roster and sufficient time is left in the  
30- minute period. 
 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         8 

6. Should there be more speakers than can be heard for three minutes each 
during either of the 30-minute periods provided for public comment, the 
presiding officer may sort the requests to speak in order to afford the greatest 
opportunity for each topic to be heard. 

7. Councilors may, after obtaining the floor, ask questions of speakers during 
public comment.  Councilors shall use restraint when exercising this option, 
and shall attempt to limit questioning to no more than three minutes.  The 
presiding officer may intervene if a councilor is violating the spirit of this 
guideline. 

8. Speakers may play electronic audio or visual material during the time 
permitted for their comment.  Speakers may utilize city-provided audio 
or visual equipment located in the council chambers as a part of their 
comment, but must provide the materials in a readable format to city staff 
prior to the meeting so that it may be installed on the city's equipment to avoid 
a delay or disruption of the meeting.   

F. Consent Agenda.  In order to expedite the council’s business, the approval of 
minutes and other routine agenda items shall be placed on the consent agenda. 

1. All items on the consent agenda shall be approved by a single motion, unless 
an item is pulled for further consideration. 

2. Any item on the consent agenda may be removed for separate consideration 
by any member of the council. 

3. For the purposes of this rule, separate consideration means any proposal to 
adopt a different course of action than that recommended in the staff report, a 
determination that debate on a proposed course of action is deemed desirable, 
any questions to staff on an item, and any item where a member of council 
must declare a conflict of interest. 

G. Ordinances and Resolutions – See Chapter 3 

H. Public Hearings Generally 

1. A public hearing may be held on any matter upon majority vote of the 
council.  Public hearings may be held to consider legislative, quasi-judicial or 
administrative matters. 

2. Persons wishing to speak shall sign the “hearing roster” with the person’s 
name and address prior to the commencement of the public hearing at which 
the person wishes to speak.   

 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         9 

3. The city recorder [council secretary] shall announce at the commencement of 
any public hearing the subject of the hearing as it is set forth on the agenda. 
The presiding officer shall then declare the hearing open.  

4. Each person shall, prior to giving testimony, give his or her name, shall 
indicate whether they are a resident of the city, and may give their address [or 
identify the ward in which they reside.]  All remarks shall be addressed to the 
council as a body and not to any member thereof. 

5. Speakers at hearings on legislative or administrative matters, other than 
legislative land use matters, will be limited to three minutes.  Speakers at a 
hearing on a quasi-judicial matter, other than a quasi-judicial land use matter, 
shall be subject to the following time limits:   

a. Staff presentation (15 minutes total). 

b. Applicant or affected party (15 minutes). Quasi-judicial hearing only. 

c. Appellant, if other than applicant (10 minutes). Quasi-judicial hearing 
only. 

d. Other interested persons (3 minutes per person). 

e. Questions of staff (No time limit).  

f. Rebuttal by applicant or party.  The scope of rebuttal is limited to 
matters which were introduced during the hearing (7 minutes total).   

6. Councilors may, after recognition by the presiding officer, ask clarifying or 
follow up questions of individuals providing testimony after that individual 
has completed his or her testimony.  Questions posed by councilors should be 
to provide clarification or additional information on testimony provided.   
Questions should not be used as an attempt to lengthen or expand the 
testimony of the individual.  Councilors shall be expected to use restraint and 
be considerate of the meeting time of the council when exercising this 
option.  The presiding officer may intervene if a councilor is violating the 
spirit of this guideline. 

7. Councilors may, after the presentation of testimony of all interested persons, 
ask clarifying or follow-up questions of staff.  Questions posed by city 
councilors should be to provide clarification or additional information on 
testimony provided. 

8. The presiding officer may exclude or limit cumulative, repetitious, or 
immaterial matter.  The presiding officer may order the testimony, alternating 
those speaking in favor and those in opposition, or have all speaking in favor 
testify, followed by all those in opposition.  The presiding officer, with the 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         10 

approval of the council, may further limit the time and/or number of speakers 
at any public hearing; provided that the presiding officer shall announce any 
such restrictions prior to the commencement of the testimony.  In the event of 
large numbers of interested persons appearing to testify, the presiding officer, 
to expedite the hearing, may in lieu of testimony call for those in favor of the 
pending proposal or those in opposition to rise and direct the city recorder 
[council secretary] to note the numbers in the minutes. 

9. At the end of public testimony and questions of staff, the council shall initiate 
deliberations by introducing a motion on the matter; continue the hearing; or 
keep the record open for additional written testimony.  During deliberations, 
each member of the council shall have the opportunity to comment on or 
discuss testimony given during the public hearing.  

10. A copy of any written testimony or physical evidence, which a party desires to 
have introduced into the record of the hearing, shall be submitted to the city 
recorder [council secretary] at the time of the hearing.  Communications 
concerning quasi-judicial matters received prior to the hearing are ex parte 
contacts, and a councilor receiving any such communication must disclose the 
fact that such a communication has been received, and the content of the 
communication.  

11. Documents submitted to the city as evidence or written testimony during a 
public hearing are public records.  If such a document contains the name, 
address, including email address, and telephone number of the person, then it 
will be included in the record of the proceeding.  Because the name, address, 
including email address, and telephone number are part of a public record, this 
information will be generally disseminated to the public, and must be 
disclosed if a public records request is submitted for the documents.  A person 
who believes such disclosure would present a danger to his or her personal 
safety, and who wishes to exempt his or her address, including email address, 
and telephone number from disclosure must submit a written request for non-
disclosure to the city recorder pursuant to ORS 192.368(1).   

I. Conduct of Hearings on Land Use Matters – See Chapter 4 

J. Written Communications to Council. 

1. Unsolicited communications to the mayor and/or council concerning matters 
on the agenda shall be forwarded to the council in the agenda packet, but shall 
not be individually itemized on the agenda. 

 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         11 

2. Unsolicited communications to the mayor and/or council concerning matters 
that are not on an agenda shall be forwarded to the mayor and/or council but 
shall not be included in the agenda packet. 

3. The city manager [city administrator] may, in his or her discretion, bring any 
matter raised by an unsolicited communication to the attention of the council 
as an agenda item, provided that such communication is accompanied by a 
staff report setting forth the reason the matter should be considered by the 
council, and making a recommendation for council action. 

  



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         12 

CHAPTER 2 – Meeting Time, Location and Frequency 
 

I. Regular meetings.  The council shall meet every ____________ evening, with the 
exception of designated holidays and/or council recesses. 

A. Meetings shall begin at ______ p.m. 

B. Meetings shall adjourn at _____ p.m., allowing one-hour increment extensions 
upon a majority vote of the council. 

 
II. Special meetings.  Special meetings may be called by the presiding officer, by 

request of three members of the council, or by the city manager [city administrator].   

A. Notice of the special meeting shall be given to each member of the council, the 
city manager [city administrator], and each local newspaper, and radio and 
television station which has on file a written request for notice of special 
meetings. 

B. Notice of the special meeting shall be given to all members of the council and the 
city manager [city administrator] via telephone and email. 

C. Special meetings shall be noticed in accordance with Oregon’s public meetings 
law, and, at a minimum, shall be noticed at least 24 hours prior to the meeting 
taking place. 

 
III. Emergency meetings.  Emergency meetings may be called by the presiding officer, 

by the request of three members of council, or by the city manager [city 
administrator]. 

A. Notice of the emergency meeting shall be given to each member of the council, 
the city manager [city administrator], and each local newspaper, and radio and 
television station which has on file a written request for notice of special 
meetings. 

B. Notice of the emergency meeting shall be given to all members of council and the 
city manager [city administrator] via telephone and email. 

C. Emergency meetings are those meetings called with less than 24 hours’ notice and 
the council shall identify why the meeting could not be delayed 24 hours 
immediately after calling the meeting to order.   

D. The minutes for any emergency meeting shall specifically identify why the 
meeting constituted an emergency and was necessary. 

 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         13 

IV. Executive Sessions.  Executive sessions may be called by the presiding officer, by 
the request of three members of council, by the city manager [city administrator] or 
by the city attorney. 

A. Only members of the council, the city manager [city administrator] and persons 
specifically invited by the city manager [city administrator] or the council shall 
be allowed to attend executive sessions. 

B. Representatives of recognized news media4 may attend executive sessions, other 
than those sessions during which the council conducts deliberations with persons 
designated to carry on labor negotiations, or where the matter involves litigation 
and the news media is a party to the litigation. 

V. Work Sessions.  Work sessions are permitted to present information to the council so 
that the council is prepared for regular or special meetings. 

A. All work sessions are subject to Oregon’s public meetings law and must be 
noticed accordingly. 

B. Work sessions are intended to allow for preliminary discussions, and the council 
is not permitted to take formal or final action on any matter at a work session. 

C. Work sessions are to be scheduled by the city manager [city administrator]. 

D. The city manager [city administrator] is to invite any relevant staff to work 
sessions so that the sessions are as productive as possible. 

VI. Holidays.  In the event a regular meeting falls on a holiday recognized by the city, the 
regular meeting for that week shall be cancelled. 

VII. Council Recess.  The council shall be in recess, at a minimum, during the following 
dates each calendar year:5 

A. August 1 – August 31;  

B. The Monday before Thanksgiving and the Friday after Thanksgiving; and 

C. December 15 to January 1. 

VIII. Location.  Council meetings shall be held at city hall. 

A. In the event city hall is not available for a meeting, the council shall meet at a 
venue open to the public which is located within the jurisdictional limits of the 
city. 

 
4 State law requires governing bodies to allow representatives of recognized news media to attend executive sessions 
except for labor negotiations and litigation where the news media is a party to the litigation.  State law does not 
define the term news media and a decision whether such an individual should be permitted to attend an executive 
session must be made on a case by case basis.   
5 Ensure that any recess is in compliance with the city charter.  It is not uncommon for a charter to require that the 
council meet at least once a month. 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         14 

B. Training sessions may be held outside of the city’s jurisdictional limits, provided 
no deliberations toward a decision are made. 

C. Interjurisdictional meetings may be held outside of the city’s jurisdictional limits, 
but should be held as close as practical to the city, and such meetings shall be 
located within the jurisdictional boundaries of the other government entity. 

D. No council meeting shall be held at any place where discrimination on the basis of 
an individuals’ race, religion, color, sex, national origin, ethnicity, marital status, 
familial status, age, sexual orientation, source of income or disability is practiced. 

IX. Notice.  The city recorder [council secretary] shall provide notice of all meetings in 
accordance with Oregon’s public meeting law. 

X. Attendance.  Members of the council shall advise the city manager [city 
administrator] if they will be unable to attend any meetings.  Under the charter, a 
council position becomes vacant if the member of council is absent from the city for 
more than 30 days without council permission or absent from all meetings of the 
council within a 60-day period. 

  



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         15 

CHAPTER 3 – Ordinances and Resolutions6 

I. Ordinances.  All ordinances considered by and voted upon by the council shall 
adhere to the rules outlined herein. 

A. Numbering.  The city recorder shall number all ordinances with a consecutive 
identification number during each calendar year, in the order of their introduction.  
Each number shall be followed by the last two digits of the year in which the 
ordinance was introduced. 

B. Sponsorship.  Each ordinance shall note the name of the member(s) of the council 
introducing or sponsoring the ordinance. 

C. Preparation and Introduction.   

1. All ordinances shall, before presentation to the council, have been approved 
by the city attorney, or the city attorney’s designee. 

2. Ordinances shall be introduced by a member of the council.  Except that, upon 
the request of the council, an ordinance may be introduced by the city 
manager [city administrator] or the city attorney, with a member of the 
council moving further action on such ordinance upon completion of the 
introduction.   

3. No ordinance shall relate to more than one subject, which shall be clearly 
expressed in its title, and no ordinance, or section thereof, shall be amended or 
repealed unless the new ordinance contains the title of the ordinance or section 
amended or repealed. 

D. Calendar of Ordinance. 

1. An ordinance is introduced for consideration by the council for presentation 
for first reading.  After introduction, the council may direct that: 

a. A public hearing on the ordinance be held; 

b. Refer the ordinance to committee for review and recommendation;  

c. Refer the ordinance to the city manager [city administrator] for further 
revision; 

d. Pass the ordinance to a second reading; or  

e. Reject the ordinance in whole or in part. 

 
6 Many city charters prescribe the form and manner in which ordinances are adopted.  Although council rules should 
address the process by which it will adopt resolutions and ordinances, it is important to ensure that the rules comply 
with the charter.  Where the rules and the charter conflict, the charter provision prevails. 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         16 

2. All ordinances when introduced for first reading shall be identified by title and 
number on a calendar of first reading and may be passed to a second reading 
as a group without further reference. 

3. Except as otherwise provided by this section, on second reading all ordinances 
shall be placed by title and number on a calendar of second reading, and may 
be passed as a group, provided that the vote for the passage of the calendar is 
unanimous. 

4. Should any member of the council object to any ordinance at time of second 
reading, that ordinance shall be removed from the calendar of second reading, 
and considered separately.  Ordinances to be considered separately shall be 
ready by title only. 

5. When the calendar of second reading or an ordinance which is to be 
considered separately is placed before the council for final passage, the city 
recorder [council secretary] shall call the roll and enter the ayes, nays and 
abstentions in the record. 

6. All proposed amendments to an ordinance shall be in writing, and may be 
made by interlineation upon the ordinance. 

7. No second reading of any ordinance shall occur at the meeting where it is 
introduced, except by suspension of this section of the rules, and no ordinance 
shall be passed at a single meeting, except by a unanimous vote for passage by 
all members of council present. 

8. An affirmative vote of at least three members of the council shall be necessary 
to pass an ordinance. 

9. When an ordinance is rejected by the council, and is not reconsidered as 
provided by these rules, neither the ordinance, nor any other ordinance which 
contains substantially the same provisions, shall be considered by the council 
for a period of not less than six months, unless at least three members of the 
council petition for early consideration. 

II. Resolutions.  All resolutions considered by and voted upon by the council shall 
adhere to the rules outlined herein. 

A. Numbering.  The city recorder shall number all resolutions with a consecutive 
identification number during each calendar year, in the order of their introduction.  
Each number shall be followed by the last two digits of the year in which the 
resolution was introduced. 

B. Sponsorship.  Each resolution shall note the name of the member(s) of the council 
introducing or sponsoring the resolution. 

 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         17 

C. Preparation and Introduction.   

1. All resolutions shall, before presentation to the council, have been approved 
by the city attorney, or the city attorney’s designee. 

2. Resolutions shall be introduced by a member of the council.  Except that, 
upon the request of the council, a resolution may be introduced by the city 
manager [city administrator] or the city attorney, with a member of the 
council moving further action on such resolution upon completion of the 
introduction. 

D. Calendar of Resolution. 

1. A resolution is introduced for consideration by the council for presentation for 
first reading.  After introduction, the council may direct that: 

a. A public hearing on the resolution be held; 

b. Pass the resolution to a second reading; or  

c. Reject the resolution in whole or in part. 

2. All resolutions when introduced for first reading shall be identified by title 
and number on a calendar of first reading and may be passed to a second 
reading as a group without further reference. 

3. Except as otherwise provided by this section, on second reading all resolutions 
shall be placed by title and number on a calendar of second reading, and may 
be passed as a group, provided that the vote for the passage of the calendar is 
unanimous. 

4. Should any member of the council object to any resolution at time of second 
reading, that resolution shall be removed from the calendar of second reading, 
and considered separately.  Resolutions to be considered separately shall be 
ready by title only. 

5. When the calendar of second reading or a resolution which is to be considered 
separately is placed before the council for final passage, the city recorder 
[council secretary] shall call the roll and enter the ayes, nays and abstentions 
in the record. 

6. All proposed amendments to a resolution shall be in writing, and may be made 
by interlineation upon the resolution. 

7. A second reading of a resolution is permitted to occur at the meeting where it 
is introduced, and a resolution may be passed at a single meeting by a 
unanimous vote for passage by all members of the council present. 

 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         18 

8. An affirmative vote of a majority of the council present shall be necessary to 
pass a resolution. 

9. When a resolution is rejected by the council, and is not reconsidered as 
provided by these rules, neither the resolution, nor any other resolution which 
contains substantially the same provisions, shall be considered by the council 
for a period of not less than three months, unless at least three members of the 
council petition for early consideration. 

  



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         19 

CHAPTER 4 – Land Use Hearings 

I. General Conduct of Hearings. 

A. Any party may speak in person, through an attorney, or elect to have a 
representative from an officially recognized neighborhood association present the 
party’s case. 

B. A copy of any written testimony or physical evidence which a party desires to 
have introduced into the record at the time of hearing shall be submitted to the 
city recorder at the time the party makes his or her presentation.  If the testimony 
or evidence is not submitted to the city recorder, it shall not be included in the 
record for the proceeding. 

C. No person may speak more than once without obtaining permission from the 
presiding officer. 

D. Upon being recognized by the presiding officer, any member of the council, the 
city manager [city administrator], planning director or the city attorney may 
question any person who testifies. 

E. Testimony shall be directed towards the applicable standards and criteria which 
apply to the proposal before the council. 

F. The presiding officer may exclude or limit cumulative, repetitious, or immaterial 
testimony.  To expedite hearings, the presiding officer may call for those in favor 
and those in opposition to rise, and the city recorder shall note the numbers of 
such persons for the record in the minutes. 

II. Quasi-Judicial Land Use Matters. 

A. Scope of Review.  All appeals and council-initiated review in quasi-judicial land 
use proceedings shall be new (de novo) and shall be held on the record. 

B. Conflicts of Interest.   

1. A member of the council shall not participate in a discussion or vote in a 
quasi-judicial land use proceeding if: 

a. The member has an actual conflict of interest as defined by the Oregon 
Revised Statutes or the city charter. 

b. The member was not present during the public hearing; provided, 
however, the member may participate if they have reviewed the evidence, 
including recordings of the hearing, and declared such fact for the record. 

2. Members of the council shall reveal any ex parte contacts with regard to the 
proceeding at the commencement of any quasi-judicial land use proceeding.  



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         20 

If such contact impairs the member’s impartiality, the member shall state this 
fact and abstain from participation in the matter. 

C. Burden of Proof.  The proponent has the burden of proof on all elements of the 
proposal, and the proposal must be supported by proof that it conforms to all 
applicable standards and criteria. 

1. The decision of the council shall be based on the applicable standards and 
criteria as set forth in the city’s municipal code, the city’s comprehensive 
plan, and, if applicable, any other land use standards imposed by state law or 
administrative rule. 

2. The proponent, any opponents, and/or city staff may submit to the council a 
set of written findings or statements of factual information which are intended 
to demonstrate the proposal complies or fails to comply with any or all 
applicable standards and criteria. 

D. Hearing Procedures.  The order of hearings in quasi-judicial land use matters  
shall be: 

1. Land Use Hearing Disclosure Statement.  The city recorder [council 
secretary] shall read the land use hearing disclose statement, which shall 
include: 

a. A list of the applicable criteria; 

b. A statement that testimony, arguments and evidence must be directed 
toward the applicable criteria or other criteria in the plan or land use 
regulation which the person believes to apply to the decision; 

c. A statement that failure to raise an issue accompanied by statements or 
evidence sufficient to afford the council and the parties an opportunity to 
respond to the issue precludes appeal to the Land Use Board of Appeals 
based on that issue; and 

d. If applicable, a statement that a failure to raise constitutional issues 
relating to proposed conditions of approval precludes an action for 
damages in circuit court. 

2. Call for ex parte contacts.  The presiding officer shall inquire whether any 
member of the council has had ex parte contacts.  Any member of the council 
announcing an ex parte contact shall state for the record the nature and content 
of the contact. 

3. Call for abstentions.  The presiding officer shall inquire whether any member 
of the council must abstain from participating in the hearing due to a conflict 
of interest.  Any member of the council announcing a conflict of interest shall 
state the nature of the conflict, and shall not participate in the proceeding, 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         21 

unless the person’s vote is necessary to meet a requirement of a minimum 
number of votes necessary to take official action; provided, however, that the 
member shall not participate in any discussion or debate on the issue of which 
the conflict arises. 

4. Staff summary.  Planning staff shall present a summary and recommendation 
concerning the proposal. 

5. Presentation of the Case.   

a. Proponent’s case.  Twenty minutes total. 

b. Persons in favor.  Five minutes per person. 

c. Persons opposed.  Five minutes per person. 

d. Other interested persons.  Five minutes per person. 

e. Rebuttal.  Ten minutes total.  Rebuttal may be presented by the proponent.  
The scope of rebuttal is limited to matters which were introduced during 
the hearing.   

6. Close of hearing.  No further information shall be received after the close of 
the hearing, except for specific questions directed to staff.  If the response to 
any such questions requires the introduction of additional factual evidence, all 
parties shall be afforded an opportunity for simultaneous written rebuttal. 

7. Deliberations.  Deliberations shall immediately follow the hearing.  The 
council may delay deliberations to a subsequent time certain. 

8. Findings and Order.  The council may approve or reject the proposal.   

a. The council shall adopt findings to support its decision. 

b. The council may incorporate findings proposed by the proponent, the 
opponent or staff in its decision. 

E. Continuances.  Only one continuance is available by right.  However, nothing in 
this section shall restrict the council, in its discretion, from granting additional 
continuances.  Any continuance shall result in a corresponding extension of the 
120-day time limitations imposed by the Oregon Revised Statutes. 

III. Legislative Land Use Matters. 

A. Hearings Procedures.  The order of procedures for hearings on legislative land use 
matters shall be: 

1. Call for abstentions.  Inquire whether any member of the council wishes to 
abstain from participation in the hearing.  Any member announcing an 
abstention shall identify the reason therefor and shall not participate in the 
proceedings. 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         22 

2. Staff summary.  Staff shall present a statement of the applicable criteria, and a 
summary and recommendation concerning the proposal. 

3. Presentation of the Case. 

a. Proponent’s case.  Twenty minutes total. 

b. Persons in favor.  Five minutes per person. 

c. Persons opposed.  Five minutes per person. 

d. Other interested persons.  Five minutes per person. 

4. Close of hearing.  No further information shall be received after the close of 
the hearing, except for responses to specific questions directed to staff. 

5. Deliberations.  Deliberations shall immediately follow the hearing.  The 
Council may delay deliberations to a subsequent time certain. 

6. Reopening hearing.  Prior to second reading of an ordinance relating to a 
legislative land use matter, and upon majority vote of the council, a hearing 
may be reopened to receive additional testimony, evidence or argument.  The 
same notice requirements shall be met for the reopened hearing as were 
required for the original hearing. 

  



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         23 

CHAPTER 5 – Motions, Debate, Public Comment and Voting7 

I. Motions.  All motions shall be distinctly worded. 

A. The following rules shall apply to motions: 

1. If a motion does not receive a second, it dies.   

2. The council will discuss a motion only after the motion has been moved and 
seconded.  Nothing in this section prevents general discussion or expression of 
opinions before a motion is made. 

3. Any motion shall be reduced to writing if requested by a member of the 
council. 

4. A motion to amend can be made to a motion that is on the floor and has been 
seconded. 

5. No motion shall be received when a question is under debate except for the 
following: 

a. To lay the matter on the table; 

b. To call for the previous question; 

c. To postpone; 

d. To refer; or 

e. To amend. 

6. A motion may be withdrawn by the mover at any time without the consent of 
the council. 

7. Amendments are voted on first, then the main motion if voted on as amended. 

8. A member of the council may have a motion which contains several elements 
divided, but the mover shall have the right to designate which element will be 
voted on first. 

9. A call for the question is intended to close the debate on the main motion; 
does not require a second and is not debatable. 

a. A call for the question fails without a majority vote. 

b. Debate on the main subject resumes if the motion fails. 

10. A motion that receives a tie vote fails. 

 
7 Many councils adopt Robert’s Rules of Order to govern motions and related matters.  This model adopts Roberts 
Rules as a guide for procedural matters and sets out a simplified procedure for motions and voting.  Under this 
model, where Robert’s Rules conflict with the model rules, the model rules should prevail. 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         24 

 

11. The presiding officer shall repeat the motion prior to a vote. 

12. A motion to adjourn cannot be amended. 

B.  Motion to Reconsider.  A motion to reconsider may only be made by a member 
of the prevailing side.  Any member may second the motion. 

1. No motion shall be made more than once. 

2. The motion shall be made before the final adjournment of the meeting when 
the item goes out of possession of the council.  

II. Debate.  The following rules shall govern the debate of any item being discussed by 
the council: 

A. Every member desiring to speak shall address the presiding officer, and, upon 
recognition by the presiding officer, shall confine him/herself to the question 
under debate, at all times acting and speaking in a respectful manner. 

B. A member, once recognized, shall not be interrupted when speaking unless it is to 
be called to order, or as herein otherwise provided.   

C. The member of the council moving the adoption of any ordinance or resolution 
shall have the privilege of closing the debate. 

III. Public Comment.  The public shall be entitled to comment on all matters before the 
council that require a vote. 

A. Public comment shall occur after the matter up for vote has been presented by city 
staff and before the council takes any formal action on the matter. 

B. Each member of the public is entitled to comment on the matter before the council 
for five minutes. 

C. Public comment is a time for comment, it is not a time for debate, nor is it a time 
for members of the public to ask questions of and receives answers from the 
council or city staff. 

D. Each person desiring to give public comments shall provide the council with his 
or her name and address prior to giving comment.  This information shall be used 
to insure the minutes of the meeting properly reflect those persons who provided 
public comment. 

IV. Voting.  The following rules shall apply to voting on matters before the council, 
unless amended in the manner outlined in Chapter 4 of these Rules.8 

 

 
8 City charters sometimes contain voting requirements.  Any voting requirement must comply with the city charter. 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         25 

A. Reports.  A majority of a quorum shall be required to approve or accept a report.  
However, no vote is required if the report is only for informational purposes. 

B. Consent Agenda.  The unanimous vote of all members of the council present is 
required to approve the matters on a consent agenda. 

C. Resolutions.  A majority of quorum shall be required to pass a resolution. 

D. An Ordinance Involving a Fee or Fine.  An ordinance involving a fee or fine shall 
require a majority of the council to pass. 

E. An Ordinance Not Involving a Fee.  An ordinance which does not involve a fee or 
a fine shall require a majority of a quorum to pass. 

F. Emergency Ordinance.  An emergency ordinance shall require the unanimous 
vote of all members present. 

G. Budget.  The budget shall require a majority of a quorum to pass. 

H. Franchise.  A majority of a quorum shall be required to pass an ordinance 
granting a franchise. 

I. Suspension of Rules.  A unanimous vote of all members of the council present 
shall be required to suspend or rescind a rule contained in these rules of 
procedure, however, rules in this chapter which also appear in the city’s charter 
shall not be suspended or rescinded. 

J. All votes shall be recorded in the minutes. 

K. Ties.  Tie votes shall indicate a denial of the proposal.  If the tie is a matter that 
has been appealed from a lower city body or commission, a tie shall render the 
lower body’s decision approved.   

L. Effective date. 

1. A resolution shall become effective upon adoption unless otherwise stated in 
the resolution. 

2. The following shall take effect immediately upon its passage: 

a. Ordinances making appropriations and the annual tax levy; 

b. Ordinances relative to local improvements and assessments; and 

c. Emergency ordinances. 

 

 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         26 

3. All other ordinances shall take effect _____ days9 after passage unless a later 
date is fixed on the ordinance, in which event it shall take effect at the later 
date. 

4. The filing of a referendum petition shall suspend the effective date of an 
ordinance.  

  

 
9 Ordinarily ordinances go into effect 30 days after passage.  Check the city charter for effective date of ordinances. 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         27 

CHAPTER 6 – Minutes 
 

I. Generally. 

A. All minutes shall be in written form, with an electronic copy of the meeting 
maintained by the city recorder [council secretary] in accordance with the 
appropriate record retention schedule. 

B. The minutes shall contain the following information: 

1. The date, time and place of the meeting; 

2. The members present;  

3. The motions, proposals, resolutions, orders, ordinances, and measures 
proposed and their disposition;  

4. The results of all votes and the vote of each member by name;  

5. The substance of any discussion on any matter; and  

6. A reference to any document discussed at the meeting 

II. Approval.  The council shall approve all minutes of any meeting. 

A. All minutes shall be approved within ninety days of the meeting having occurred. 

B. The draft minutes shall be submitted to the council as part of the council’s packet 
prior to the meeting where they will be discussed. 

C. Any member of the council may request an amendment or correction of the 
minutes prior to a final vote being taken on the minutes. 

  



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         28 

CHAPTER 7 – Appointments 

I. Appointments of City Staff.  The council appoints and can remove those positions 
identified in the city’s charter.  All appointments require a majority vote of the entire 
council. 

A. Reviews.  Any person appointed by the council shall be subject to an annual 
review by the council. 

B. Removals.  All appointed persons may be removed by a majority vote of the 
entire council. 

C. Interference.  If the council appoints a municipal judge, the council may meet 
with the judge, but in no instance shall the council be permitted to interfere with 
the judge’s exercise of judicial authority or discretion. 

II. Appointments of Members to Boards, Commissions and/or Committees.   

A. Unless otherwise mandated by state law, the mayor shall appoint the members of 
any board, commission or committee authorized by the council. 

B. Unless otherwise prohibited by the council, the mayor shall have the authority to 
create and appoint subcommittees of committees authorized by the council. 

C. Removals.  All appointed persons may be removed by the mayor. 

 

 
  



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         29 

CHAPTER 8 – Ethics, Decorum, Outside Statements 

I. Ethics.  All members of the council shall review and observe the requirements of 
state ethics law.  In addition to complying with state ethics law, all members of the 
council shall refrain from: 

A. Disclosing confidential information. 

B. Taking action which benefits special interest groups or persons at the expense of 
the city as a whole. 

C. Expressing an opinion contrary to the official position of the council without so 
saying. 

D. Conducting themselves in a manner so as to bring discredit upon the government 
of the city. 

II. Decorum. 

A. The presiding officer shall preserve decorum during meetings and shall decide all 
points of order, subject to appeal of the council. 

B. Members of the council shall preserve decorum during meetings, and shall not, by 
conversation or action, delay or interrupt the proceedings or refuse to obey the 
orders of the presiding officer or these rules. 

C. Members of the city staff and all other persons attending meetings shall observe 
the council’s rules of proceedings and adhere to the same standards of decorum as 
members of council. 

III. Statements to the Media and Other Organizations 

A. Representing City.  lf a member of the council, to include the mayor, appears as a 
representative of the city before another governmental agency, the media or an 
organization to give a statement on an issue, the member may only state the 
official position of the city, as approved by a majority of the council.   

B. Personal Opinions.  If a member of the council, to include the mayor, appears in 
their personal capacity before another governmental agency, the media or an 
organization to give a statement on an issue, the member must state they are 
expressing their own opinion and not that of the city before giving their statement. 
 

 
  



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         30 

CHAPTER 9 – Interactions with Staff & City Attorney 

I. Staff.  All members of the council shall respect the separation between the council’s 
role and the city’s manager’s [city administrator’s] responsibility by: 

A. Not interfering with the day-to-day administration of city business, which is the 
responsibility of the city manager [city administrator]. 

B. Refraining from actions that would undermine the authority of the city manager 
[city administrator] or a department head. 

C. Limiting individual inquiries and requests for information from staff to those 
questions that may be answered readily as part of staff’s day-to-day 
responsibilities.  Questions of a more complex nature shall be directed to the city 
manager [city administrator]. 

1. Questions from individual members of the council requiring significant time 
or resources (two hours or more) shall normally require approval of the 
council. 

2. Members of the council shall normally share any information obtained from 
staff with the entire council.  This section is not intended to apply to questions 
by members of the council acting in their individual capacities rather than as 
members of the council, nor to questions regarding conflict of interest or 
similar issues particular to a member of the council. 

II. City Attorney.  Council members may make requests to the city attorney for advice 
no more than once a month, so long as the request does not require more than two 
hours of the attorney’s time.  A councilor may make additional requests within a 
month or make a request that exceeds two hours with the concurrence of the majority 
of the council. 

  



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         31 

CHAPTER 10 – Censure [and Removal]10 

I. The council may enforce these rules and ensure compliance with city ordinances, 
charter and state laws applicable to governing bodies.  lf a member of council violates 
these rules, city ordinances, the city charter or state laws applicable to governing 
bodies, the council may take action to protect the integrity of the council and 
discipline the member with a public reprimand [or removal as provided for in the city 
charter].  

II. The council may investigate the actions of any member of council and meet in 
executive session under ORS 192.660(2)(b) to discuss any finding that reasonable 
grounds exist that a violation of these rules, local ordinance, the city charter or state 
laws applicable to governing bodies has occurred.  Sufficient notice must be given to 
the affected member to afford them the opportunity to request an open hearing under 
ORS 192.660(2)(b). 

  

 
10 Some charters allow the council to remove the mayor or councilor from office for certain enumerated reasons 
following notice and a public hearing.  Absent such a charter provision, it’s likely that an elected official cannot be 
removed from office absent a recall vote by the electorate in accordance with the Oregon Constitution Article II, 
section 18, and ORS 249.865. 



Model Rules of Procedure for Council Meetings         32 

CHAPTER 11 – Amendment and Repeal 

I. Amendment.  These rules of procedure are subject to amendment by the council in 
accordance with the rules noted herein. 

A. Any proposed amendment to these rules shall be noted on an agenda for a regular 
meeting, wherein the same shall be discussed, and open for comment by the 
public. 

B. All amendments to these rules requires a majority vote. 

C. Amended rules shall not go into effect until the meeting after the rule was 
approved. 

II. Repeal.  These rules of procedure are subject to repeal and replacement by the 
council in accordance with the rules noted herein. 

A. Any proposed repeal of these rules shall be accompanied by a proposed 
replacement. 

B. Any proposed repeal and replacement of these rules shall be noted on an agenda 
for a regular meeting, wherein the same shall be discussed, and open for comment 
by the public. 

C. Any repeal and replacement of these rules requires a majority vote. 

D. Any repeal and replacement of these rules shall not go into effect until 30 days 
after the replacement rule was approved. 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 

CITY CHARTER  
 

2009 
 
 
 

 PREAMBLE 
 
 

e, the voters of Forest Grove, Oregon exercise our power to the 
fullest extent possible under the Oregon Constitution and laws 

of the State, and enact this Home Rule Charter. 

  W 

  
 

A place where families and businesses thrive. 
 



2 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

 



3 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 
 

CHAPTER 1    NAME AND BOUNDARIES 
                                              

SECTION   DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

1. Title .................................................................................   1 
2. Name ..............................................................................   1 
3. Boundaries .....................................................................   1 
 
 

CHAPTER II    POWERS 
                                            

SECTION   DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

4   Powers ....  ......................................................................   2 
5.   Construction ...................................................................   2 
6.  Distribution .....................................................................   2  
 
 

CHAPTER III   COUNCIL 
                                              

SECTION   DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

7.   Council ....  ......................................................................   3 
8.   Mayor ......  ......................................................................   3 
9.   Council President ...........................................................   3 
10.   Council Rules .................................................................   3 
11.   Meetings ..  ......................................................................   3 
12.   Quorum ...  ......................................................................   3 
13.   Vote Required ................................................................   3 
14.   Record .....  ......................................................................   3 
 

 
CHAPTER IV   LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
                                            
SECTION   DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

15. Ordinances .....................................................................   4 
16. Ordinance Enactment .....................................................   4 
17. Effective Date .................................................................   4 
  

  



4 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

 

 
 
 
CHAPTER V    ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY 
                                            
SECTION   DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

18. Resolutions .....................................................................   5 
19. Resolution Adoption .......................................................   5 
20. Effective Date .................................................................   5 
 
 
CHAPTER VI   QUASI-JUDICIAL AUTHORITY 
                                            
SECTION   DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

21. Orders ............................................................................   6 
22. Order Adoption ...............................................................   6 
23. Effective Date .................................................................   6 
 

 
CHAPTER VII   ELECTIONS 
                                            
SECTION   DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

24. Councilors ......................................................................   7 
25. Mayor .............................................................................   7 
26. State Law .......................................................................   7 
27. Qualifications ..................................................................   7 
28. Nominations ...................................................................   7 
29. Terms .............................................................................   8 
30. Oath ................................................................................   8 
31. Vacancies .......................................................................   8 
32. Filling Vacancies.............................................................   8 
 
 
CHAPTER VII   APPOINTIVE OFFICERS 
                                           
SECTION   DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

33. City Manager ..................................................................   9 
34. City Attorney ...................................................................   10 
35. Municipal Court and Judge .............................................   10 
 
 
 
 
 



5 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

 

 
 
 
 
CHAPTER XI   PERSONNEL 
                                           
SECTION   DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

36. Personnel Rules .............................................................   12 
 
 
 
CHAPTER X   MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
                                           
SECTION   DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

37. City Audit ........................................................................   13 
38. Debt ................................................................................   13 
39. Ordinance Continuation ..................................................   13 
40. Repeal ............................................................................   13 
41. Severability .....................................................................   13 
42. Time of Effect .................................................................   13 
 



6 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

 

 
 



1 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

CHAPTER I 
 

NAME AND BOUNDARIES 
 

 
 
SECTION 1.  TITLE   This Charter may be referred to as the 2009 City of 
Forest Grove Charter. 
 
 
SECTION 2.  NAME   The City of Forest Grove, Washington County, 
Oregon continues as a municipal corporation with the name City of Forest 
Grove. 
 
 
SECTION 3.  BOUNDARIES   The City includes all territory within its 
boundaries as they now exist or are legally modified.  The City will maintain as 
a public record an accurate and current description of its boundaries. 
 



2 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

CHAPTER II 
 

POWERS 
 

 
 
SECTION 4.  POWERS   The City has all powers that the constitutions, 
statutes and common law of the United States and State of Oregon expressly 
or impliedly grant or allow the City, as fully as though this Charter specifically 
enumerated each of those powers. 
 
 
SECTION 5.  CONSTRUCTION   This Charter will be liberally construed 
so that the City may exercise fully all powers possible under this Charter and 
under United States and Oregon law. 
 
 
SECTION 6.  DISTRIBUTION   The Oregon Constitution reserves 
initiative and referendum powers as to all municipal legislation to City voters.  
This Charter vests all other City powers in the Council, except as the Charter 
otherwise provides.  The Council has legislative, administrative, and quasi-
judicial authority.  The Council exercises legislative authority by ordinance, 
administrative authority by resolution, and quasi-judicial authority by order.  The 
Council may not delegate its authority to adopt ordinances. 



3 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

CHAPTER III 
 

COUNCIL 
 

 
SECTION 7.  COUNCIL   The Council consists of a Mayor and six 
Councilors nominated and elected from the City at large. 
 
SECTION 8.  MAYOR 
 
(a) The Mayor presides over and facilitates Council meetings, preserves 

order, enforces Council rules, and determines the order of business 
under Council rules. 

(b) The Mayor is a voting member of the Council and has no veto authority. 
(c) The Mayor, with the consent of Council, appoints members of boards, 

commissions and committees established by ordinance or resolution. 
(d) The Mayor must sign all records of Council decisions. 
(e) The Mayor serves as the political head of the City government. 
 
SECTION 9.  COUNCIL PRESIDENT   At its first meeting each year, the 
Council must elect a President from its membership.  The President presides in 
the absence of the Mayor and acts as Mayor when the Mayor is unable to 
perform duties. 
 
SECTION 10. COUNCIL RULES   The Council must adopt by resolution 
rules to govern its meetings and proceedings. 
 
SECTION 11. MEETINGS   The Council must meet at least once a month 
at a time and place designated by Council rules, and may meet at other times 
in accordance with the Council rules. 
 
SECTION 12. QUORUM   A majority of the Council members is a quorum 
to conduct business, but a smaller number may meet and compel attendance of 
absent members as prescribed by Council rules. 
 
SECTION 13. VOTE REQUIRED   The express approval of a majority of 
a quorum of the Council is necessary for any Council decision, except when 
this Charter requires approval by a majority of the Council. 
 
SECTION 14. RECORD   A record of Council meetings must be kept in a 
manner prescribed by the Council rules. 



4 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

CHAPTER IV 
 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
 

 
 
SECTION 15. ORDINANCES   The Council will exercise its legislative 
authority by adopting ordinances.  The enacting clause for all ordinances must 
state “The City of Forest Grove ordains as follows:” 
 
 
SECTION 16. ORDINANCE ENACTMENT 
 
(a) Except as authorized by subsection (b), enactment of an ordinance 

requires approval by a majority of the Council at two meetings. 
 
(b) The Council may enact an ordinance at a single meeting by unanimous 

approval by at least five members, provided the proposed ordinance is 
available to the public at least seven days before the meeting as 
prescribed by Council rules. 

 
(c) Any substantive amendment to a proposed ordinance must be read 

aloud before the Council enacts the ordinance.  
 
(d) After the enactment of an ordinance, the vote of each member must be 

entered into the Council minutes. 
 
(e) After enactment of an ordinance and signature by the Mayor, the City 

Recorder must attest to the ordinance by name, title, and date of 
enactment.  

 
 
SECTION 17. EFFECTIVE DATE   Ordinances take effect on the 30th day 
after enactment, or on a later day provided in the ordinance.  An ordinance may 
take effect as soon as enacted or other date less than 30 days after enactment 
if the ordinance contains an emergency clause. 



5 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

CHAPTER V 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY 
 

 
 
SECTION 18. RESOLUTIONS   The Council will normally exercise its 
administrative authority by adopting resolutions.  The adopting clause for all 
resolutions must state “The City of Forest Grove resolves as follows:” 
 
 
SECTION 19. RESOLUTION ADOPTION 
 
(a) Adoption of a resolution or any other Council administrative decision 

requires approval by the Council at one meeting. 
 
(b) Any substantive amendment to a resolution must be read aloud before 

the Council adopts the resolution. 
 
(c) After adoption of a resolution or other administrative decision, the vote of 

each member must be entered into the Council minutes. 
 
(d) After adoption of a resolution and signature by the Mayor, the City 

Recorder must attest to the resolution by name, title, and date of 
adoption.  

 
 
SECTION 20. EFFECTIVE DATE   Resolutions and other administrative 
decisions take effect on the date of adoption, or on a later day provided in the 
resolution. 



6 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

CHAPTER VI 
 

QUASI-JUDICIAL AUTHORITY 
 

 
 
SECTION 21. ORDERS   The Council will normally exercise its quasi-
judicial authority by adopting orders.  The adopting clause for all orders must 
state “The City of Forest Grove orders as follows:” 
 
 
SECTION 22. ORDER ADOPTION 
 
(a) Adoption of an order or any other Council quasi-judicial decision requires 

approval by the Council at one meeting. 
  
(b) Any substantive amendment to an order must be read aloud before the 

Council adopts the order. 
 
(c) After adoption of an order or other Council quasi-judicial decision, the 

vote of each member must be entered in the Council minutes. 
 
(d) After adoption of an order and signature by the Mayor, the City Recorder 

must attest to the order by name, title, and date of adoption 
 
 
SECTION 23. EFFECTIVE DATE   Orders and other quasi-judicial 
decisions take effect on the date of final adoption, or on a later day provided in 
the order. 
 



7 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

CHAPTER VII 
 

ELECTIONS 
 

 
SECTION 24. COUNCILORS   At each general election after adoption of 
this Charter, three Councilors will be elected for four-year terms.  The term of a 
Councilor in office when this Charter is adopted is the term for which the 
Councilor was elected. 
 
 
SECTION 25. MAYOR   At the 2010 general election and every other 
general election thereafter, a Mayor will be elected for a four-year term.  The 
term of the Mayor in office when this Charter is adopted is the term for which 
the Mayor was elected. 
 
 
SECTION 26. STATE LAW   City elections must conform to State law, 
except as this Charter or ordinances provide otherwise.  All elections for City 
offices must be nonpartisan. 
 
 
SECTION 27. QUALIFICATIONS 
 
(a) The Mayor and each Councilor must be a qualified elector under State 

law, and reside within the City for at least one year immediately before 
election or appointment to office. 

 
(b) No person may be a candidate at a single election for more than one 

City office. 
 
(c) Neither the Mayor nor a Councilor may be employed by the City. 
 
(d) The Council is the final judge of the election and qualifications of its 

members. 
 
 
SECTION 28. NOMINATIONS   The Council must adopt an ordinance 
prescribing the manner for a person to be nominated to run for Mayor or a 
Councilor position. 



8 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

SECTION 29. TERMS    The term of an officer elected at a general 
election begins at the first Council meeting immediately after the election is 
certified by county elections officials, and continues until the successor qualifies 
and assumes the office. 
 
SECTION 30. OATH   The Mayor and each Councilor must swear or 
affirm to faithfully perform the duties of the office and support the constitutions 
and laws of the United States and State of Oregon, and the Charter, ordinances 
and resolutions of the City. 
 
 
SECTION 31. VACANCIES   The Mayor or a Councilor office becomes 
vacant: 
 

(a)  Upon the incumbent’s: 
(1) Death, 
(2) Adjudicated incompetence, or 
(3) Recall from the office. 

(b)  Upon declaration by the Council after the incumbent’s: 
(1) Failure to qualify for the office within 10 days prior to the 

time the term of office is to begin, 
(2) Absence from the City for 30 days or from all Council 

meetings within a 45-day period, without Council consent, 
(3) Ceasing to reside in the City, 
(4) Ceasing to be a qualified elector under State law, 
(5) Conviction of a public offense punishable by loss of liberty, 
(6) Resignation from the office, or 
(7) Violation of Section 33(i). 

 
 
SECTION 32. FILLING VACANCIES   A Mayor or Councilor vacancy will 
be filled by appointment by a majority of the remaining Council members.  The 
term of office for the appointee runs from appointment until expiration of the 
term of office of the last person elected to that office.  If a disability prevents a 
Council member from attending Council meetings or a member is absent from 
the City, a majority of the Council may appoint a Councilor pro tem. 



9 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

CHAPTER VIII 
 

APPOINTIVE OFFICERS 
 

 
 
SECTION 33. CITY MANAGER 
 
(a) The office of City Manager is established as the administrative head of 

the City government.  The Manager is responsible to the Mayor and 
Council for the proper administration of all City business.  The Manager 
will assist the Mayor and Council in the development of City policies and 
carry out policies established by ordinances and resolutions. 

 
(b) A majority of the Council may appoint and may remove the Manager.  

The appointment must be made without regard to political considerations 
and be solely on the basis of education and experience in competencies 
and practices of local government management. 

 
(c) The Manager need not reside in the City at the time of employment, but 

must within six months become and remain a resident of the City while 
appointed as Manager.  A majority of the Council may modify the 
contract to extend the time to comply. 

 
(d) The Manager is appointed for a definite or an indefinite term, and may 

be removed at any time by a majority of the Council.  The Council must 
fill the office by appointment as soon as practicable after a vacancy 
occurs. 

 
(e) The Manager must: 

(1) Attend all Council meetings unless excused by the Mayor or 
Council; 

(2) Make reports and recommendations to the Mayor and Council 
about  the needs of the City; 

(3) Administer and enforce all City ordinances, resolutions, 
franchises, leases, contracts, permits, and other City decisions; 

(4) Appoint, supervise, and remove City employees; 
(5) Organize City departments and administrative structure; 
(6) Prepare and administer the annual City budget; 
(7) Administer City utilities and property; 
(8) Encourage and support regional and intergovernmental 

cooperation; 
(9) Promote cooperation among the Council, staff and residents in 

developing City policies, and building a sense of community; 



10 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

(10) Perform other duties as directed by the Council; and 
(11) Delegate duties, but remain responsible for acts of all 

subordinates. 
(f) The Manager has no authority over the Council or over the judicial 

functions of the Municipal Judge. 
 
(g) The Manager and others designated by the Council may sit at Council 

meetings but have no vote.  The Manager may take part in all Council 
discussions. 

 
(h) When the Manager is temporarily disabled from acting as Manager or 

when the office becomes vacant, the Council must appoint a Manager 
pro tem as prescribed by Council rules.  The Manager pro tem has the 
authority and duties of Manager, except that a Manager pro tem may not 
appoint or remove employees without Council approval 

 
(i) No Council member may directly or indirectly attempt to coerce the 

Manager or a candidate for that office in the appointment or removal of 
any City employee, or in administrative decisions regarding City property 
or contracts. Violation of this prohibition is grounds for removal from 
office by a majority of the Council after a public hearing.  In Council 
meetings, Council members may discuss or suggest anything with the 
Manager relating to City business. 

 
 
SECTION 34. CITY ATTORNEY  The City Attorney is appointed by the 
Council as the chief legal officer of the City.  A majority of the Council will 
appoint and may remove the Attorney. 
 
 
SECTION 35. MUNICIPAL COURT AND JUDGE 
 
(a) A majority of the Council may appoint and may remove a Municipal 

Judge.  A Municipal Judge will hold court in the City at such place as the 
Council directs.  The court will be known as the “Municipal Court of the 
City of Forest Grove”. 

 
(b) All proceedings of this Court will conform to State laws governing 

justices of the peace and justice courts. 
 
(c) All areas within the City and areas outside the City as permitted by State 

law are within the territorial jurisdiction of the Court. 
 
(d) The Court has jurisdiction over every offense created by City ordinance.  

The Court may enforce forfeitures and other penalties created by 



11 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

ordinances.  The Court also has jurisdiction under State law unless 
limited by City ordinance. 

 
 
(e) The Municipal Judge may:  

(1) Render judgments and impose sanctions on persons and 
property; 

(2) Order the arrest of anyone accused of an offense against the City; 
(3) Commit to jail or admit to bail anyone accused of a City offense; 
(4) Issue and compel obedience to subpoenas; 
(5) Compel witnesses to appear and testify and jurors to serve for 

trials before the Court; 
(6) Penalize contempt of Court; 
(7) Issue processes necessary to enforce judgments and orders of 

the Court; 
(8) Issue search warrants; and 
(9) Perform other judicial and quasi-judicial functions assigned by 

ordinance. 
 
(f) The Council may appoint and may remove Municipal Judge pro tems. 
 
(g) The Council may transfer some or all of the functions of the Municipal 

Court to a State court. 



12 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

 

CHAPTER IX 
 

PERSONNEL 
 

 
 
SECTION 36. PERSONNEL RULES.  The Council by resolution will 
adopt the rules governing recruitment, selection, promotion, transfer, demotion, 
suspension, layoff, and dismissal of City employees based on merit and fitness. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



13 | P a g e  
C i t y  o f  F o r e s t  G r o v e  C i t y  C h a r t e r  

E n a c t e d  M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 0 9 ,  S p e c i a l  E l e c t i o n  
R e s o l u t i o n  N o .  2 0 0 9 - 4 7  

CHAPTER X 
 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 

 
 
 
SECTION 37. CITY AUDIT   The Council by resolution will approve 
contracts for annual audits of City accounts and fiscal affairs as required by 
State law. 
 
SECTION 38. DEBT   City indebtedness may not exceed debt limits 
imposed by State law.  A Charter amendment is not required to authorize City 
indebtedness. 
 
 
SECTION 39. ORDINANCE CONTINUATION   All ordinances consistent 
with this Charter in force when it takes effect remain in effect until amended or 
repealed. 
 
 
SECTION 40. REPEAL   All Charter provisions adopted before this 
Charter takes effect are repealed. 
 
 
SECTION 41. SEVERABILITY   The terms of this Charter are severable. 
If any provision is held invalid by a court, the invalidity does not affect any other 
term of the Charter. 
 
 
SECTION 42. TIME OF EFFECT   This Charter takes effect July 1, 2009. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 
 

 

 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
RULES OF 

PROCEDURE 
 

2019 
 



 
 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 

SECTION 1     AUTHORITY 
                                              

SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

1.1  Authority .............................................................................   1 
 

 
 
SECTION 2    GENERAL RULES 

                                            
SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

2.1  Open Meetings ...................................................................   1 
2.2  Quorum ...............................................................................   1  
2.3  Vote Required .....................................................................   1 
2.4  Rules of Order ....................................................................   1 
2.5  Suspension of Rules ...........................................................   1 
2.6  Address by Council Members .............................................   1 
 

 
SECTION 3    COUNCIL MEETINGS 

                                              
SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

3.1  Regular Meeting .................................................................   2 
3.2  Work Session ......................................................................   2 
3.3  Coffee-Hour Work Session .................................................   2 
3.4  Special Meeting ..................................................................   2 
3.5  Emergency Meeting ............................................................   2-3 
3.6  Executive Session ..............................................................   3 
3.7  Adjourned and Recessed Meeting ......................................   3 
3.8  Meetings Open to the Public ...............................................   3 
3.9  Cancellation of Meeting ......................................................   3-4 
3.10  Notice of Meeting ................................................................   4 
3.11  Attendance Duty .................................................................   4 
3.12  Excused/Unexcused Absence ............................................   4 
3.13  Telephonic Attendance .......................................................   4 
 

 
SECTION 4     PRESIDING OFFICER 

                                              
SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

4.1  Mayor ..................................................................................   5  
4.2  Council President ................................................................   5 



SECTION 5     DECORUM AND ORDER 
                                              

SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

5.1  Presiding Officer .................................................................   5 
5.2  Councilors ...........................................................................   5 
5.3  Staff and Public ...................................................................   5-6 
5.4  Removal of Any Person ......................................................   6 
 

 
SECTION 6     AGENDA AND ORDER OF BUSINESS 

                                              
SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

6.1  Agenda Preparation ............................................................   6 
6.2  Review of Preliminary Agenda ............................................   6 
6.3  Councilmembers Scheduling Agenda Items .......................   6 
6.4  Order of Business ...............................................................   6-8 
6.5  Changing Order of Business ...............................................   8 
6.6  Recess ................................................................................   8 
6.7  Motion for Reconsideration .................................................   8 

 
 
SECTION 7     PUBLIC TESTIMONY 

                                              
SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

7.1  Public Comment Generally .................................................   8 
7.2  Persons Sharing Common Concerns .................................   8-9 
7.3  Roster  .................................................................................   9 
7.4  Complaints and Suggestions to the Council .......................   9 
 

 
SECTION 8    PUBLIC HEARINGS, CONFLICTS OF INTEREST OR OTHER 
 DISQUALIFICATIONS 

                                             
SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

8.1  Public Hearings ...................................................................   9 
8.2  Open Public Hearing ...........................................................   9 
8.3  Call for Abstentions .............................................................   10 
8.4  Ex-Parte Contact/Conflict of Interest/Prehearing Bias ........   10 
8.5  Challenge/Disqualifications .................................................   10 
8.6  Objections to Jurisdiction ....................................................   10 
8.7  Staff Report and Recommendation .....................................   10 
8.8  Testimony ...........................................................................   11 
8.9  Attorney Representation .....................................................   11 
8.10  Testimony – Land Use Public Hearings ..............................   11 
8.11  Land Use Appeal Hearings/Procedures ..............................   11 



8.12  Closing of Hearing/Council Deliberation .............................   11-12 
8.13  Reopening of Hearing .........................................................   12 
 

 
SECTION 9     ORDINANCES (LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY) 

                                              
SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

9.1  Ordinances .........................................................................   12 
9.2  Ordinance Enactment .........................................................   12 
9.3  Ordinance Effective Date ....................................................   12 
 

 
SECTION 10    RESOLUTIONS (ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY) 

                                              
SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

10.1  Resolutions .........................................................................   13 
10.2  Resolution Adoption ............................................................   13 
10.3  Resolution Effective Date ...................................................   13 

 
 
SECTION 11    ORDERS (QUASI-JUDICIAL AUTHORITY) 

                                              
SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

11.1  Orders .................................................................................   13 
11.2  Order Adoption ...................................................................   13 
11.3  Order Effective Date ...........................................................   13 
 

 
SECTION 12    RECORD OF MEETINGS 
 
SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

12.1  Council Record of Meetings ................................................   14 
12.2  Responsibility......................................................................   14 
12.3  Content of Minutes ..............................................................   14 
12.4  Preparation of Minutes and Retention of Audio ..................   14 
12.5  Executive Session Minutes .................................................   14 
12.6  Distribution of Minutes ........................................................   14 
12.7  Correction and Approval of Minutes ....................................   14-15 

 
 
SECTION 13   PROCLAMATIONS 

                                              
SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

13.1  Request for Proclamations .................................................   15 
13.2  Reading of Proclamations ...................................................   15 



SECTION 14   ADVISORY BOARDS, COMMISSIONS, AND COMMITTEES 
                                              

SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

14.1  Advisory Boards, Commissions, Committees  ....................   15  
14.2  Purpose ..............................................................................   15 
14.3  Membership Qualifications .................................................   15 
14.4  Composition ........................................................................   16 
14.5  Quorum and Meetings ........................................................   16 
14.6  Terms of Office and Officers ...............................................   16 
14.7  Registry ..............................................................................   16 
14.8  Councilmembers Liaisons ...................................................   16 
14.9  Staff Liaisons ......................................................................   16-17 
14.10  Appointments and Reappointments ....................................   17 
14.11  Attendance .........................................................................   17 
14.12  Resignations and Vacancies ..............................................   17 
14.13  Agenda ...............................................................................   17 
14.14  Open Meetings, Written Minutes and Public Records .........   17-18 
14.15  Bylaws ................................................................................   18 
14.16  Annual Reporting ................................................................   18 
14.17  Conflicts of Interest and Ethics Law ....................................   18 
 

 
SECTION 15   ELECTRONIC MAIL  

                                              
SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

15.1  Electronic Mail ....................................................................   18 
 

 
SECTION 16   CITY COUNCIL GOAL SETTING 

                                              
SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

16.1  Council Goal Setting ...........................................................   19 
 

 
SECTION 17   CITY COUNCIL TRAINING AND STIPENDS 

                                              
SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

17.1  Council Training ..................................................................   19 
17.2  Mayor Training ....................................................................   19 
17.3  Council Training Budget .....................................................   19 
17.4  Reimbursement Allowance .................................................   19 
17.5  Council Stipends .................................................................   19 

 
 



SECTION 18   MISCELLANEOUS 
                                              

SECTION  DESCRIPTION  PAGE 

18.1  Amendments to Council Rules ............................................   19 
 

Resolution No. 2019-20 (revised) 
Resolution No. 2017-66 (revised) 
Resolution No. 2009-45 (adopted) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



SECTION 1 – AUTHORITY 

 
1. 1  Authority - The City of Forest Grove City Charter, Section 10, provides that 
the Council shall adopt Council Rules by resolution to govern its meetings and 
proceedings. The following Council Rules shall be in effect upon their adoption by the 
Council until they are amended or new Council Rules are adopted.  These Council 
Rules shall be presented to all Councilmembers and within 30 days of taking office, 
each appointed or elected Councilor shall sign that they have reviewed and received 
a copy of these Council Rules. The City recorder shall retain the signature copy.  
 
 
 

SECTION 2 – GENERAL RULES 
 

2. 1  Open Meetings – All City Council meetings will be held in accordance with the 
Oregon Public Meetings Law (pursuant to ORS 192). No final action by the Council 
shall have legal effect, unless the motion and the vote by which it is disposed of take 
place, at a proceeding that is open to the public.  
 
2. 2  Quorum – Pursuant to City Charter, Section 12, a majority of the 
Councilmembers shall constitute a quorum to conduct business, no less than three 
Councilors may meet and compel attendance of absent members.  If a quorum is not 
present, those in attendance will be recorded, and the Presiding Officer or City 
Recorder will adjourn the meeting.  
 
2. 3 Vote Required – The express approval of a majority of a quorum of the 
Council is necessary for any Council decision, except when the Charter or Council 
Rules requires approval by a majority of the Council.  
 
2. 4  Rules of Order – Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised shall govern all 
Council proceedings, unless they conflict with these rules.  The City Attorney or City 
Recorder, in the absence of the City Attorney, shall act as parliamentarian for the 
Council.   
 
2. 5  Suspension of Rules –The vote to suspend the Council Rules (including 
Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised) requires a majority vote of those members of 
the Council who are present.  If the motion is carried, the rules shall be suspended for 
that item only.  
 
2. 6  Address by Council Members – Any Councilmember desiring to speak to an 
issue shall address the Presiding Officer and upon recognition, shall confine remarks 
to the issue under debate. Councilmembers questioning, seeking clarification, or 
soliciting a recommendation from staff shall direct the concern to the City Manager. 
The City Manager may respond as requested or redirect the inquiry to a member of 
the staff.   

Page 1



SECTION 3 – COUNCIL MEETINGS 
 
3. 1  Regular Meeting (Charter, Section 11) - The City Council will meet in regular 
session on the second and fourth Mondays of each month at 7:00 p.m. in the 
Community Auditorium, 1915 Main Street, or at another place in the City which the 
Council designates. If such date falls on a City-recognized legal holiday, the meeting 
shall be held at the usual hour and place on the following day. The Council shall 
adopt a resolution at the first meeting of each year setting its meeting dates.   
 
3. 2  Work Session – The City Council may hold a work session on the first 
Monday or third Monday of each month at the request of the Presiding Officer at a 
place in the City which the Presiding Officer designates. Such sessions shall allow 
the Council an opportunity to review forthcoming projects of the City, determine goals 
for the ensuing year, receive progress reports on current programs or projects, or to 
hold open discussions on any City-related subject, provided that all discussions 
thereon shall be informal with no vote or formal action taken. In case of a joint work 
session, the Presiding Officer shall call the session to order and turn the session over 
to the appropriate facilitator. If the group has no facilitator, the Presiding Officer may 
act as facilitator. All work sessions shall be open to the public, however an 
opportunity for public testimony will only be allowed at the discretion of the Presiding 
Officer or by a majority vote of the Councilmembers. Other work sessions may be 
called at the discretion of the Mayor or at the request of four members of the Council.  
 
3. 3 Coffee-Hour Work Session – The City Council may hold a coffee-hour work 
session on the first Saturday of each month at the request of the Mayor at a place in 
the City which the Mayor designates, provided that all discussions thereon shall be 
informal with no vote or formal action taken. Such sessions shall allow the public an 
opportunity to meet informally with the Mayor and Councilmembers to discuss issues 
or concerns they may have, and for the purpose of allowing Councilmembers an 
opportunity to meet informally with the Mayor to discuss issues or concerns they may 
have.   
 
3. 4  Special Meeting – The Mayor, upon own motion may, or at the request of four 
members of the Council shall, by giving notice thereof to all members of the Council, 
call a special meeting of the Council.  At least 24 hours’ notice pursuant to ORS 
192.640(3) shall be given for the meeting. The notice shall list the subjects 
anticipated to be considered at the meeting; however, this requirement shall not limit 
the ability to consider additional subjects pursuant to ORS 192.640(1).   
 
3. 5  Emergency Meeting – The Mayor, upon own motion may, and by giving 
notice thereof to all members of the Council, call an emergency meeting. An 
emergency meeting of the Council may be called on less than 24 hours’ notice 
provided that an actual emergency exists. The minutes of the meeting must describe 
the emergency justifying less than 24 hours’ notice pursuant to ORS 192.640(3). 

Page 2



Attempts shall be made to contact the media by telephone, fax, or e-mail to provide 
notice of the emergency meeting.  
 
3. 6  Executive Session – Executive sessions shall be held in accordance with 
ORS 192.660. Matters discussed in executive session shall be exempt from public 
disclosure pursuant to ORS 192.660. Executive sessions shall be closed to all 
persons except the City Council; persons reporting to Council on the subject of the 
executive session; the City Manager, unless directed otherwise by the Council; City 
staff persons as allowed by the City Council to attend; news media representatives, 
unless excluded by the Oregon Public Meetings Law (media representatives may be 
excluded for discussions regarding labor negotiations or if the media or 
representative is a party to the litigation being discussed); and other persons 
authorized by the City Council to attend. The term "news media representative" is 
interpreted by the Oregon Attorney General to include "news gathering 
representatives", meaning reporters of news gathering media which ordinarily report 
activities of the public body (39 Op. Att'y Gen. 600 (1979).  An executive session may 
be held during any regular meeting or any open meeting for which proper notice has 
been given. Pursuant to ORS 192.660(6), no final action or final decision may be 
taken during an executive session; however, an opinion or consensus of the Council 
may be gathered. All final actions or final decisions must be made in a public session.   
 
Prior to opening an executive session, the Presiding Officer shall: 

  Announce the ORS Statute authorizing the executive session; and 
State that “Representatives of the news media and designated staff 
may attend Executive Sessions. Representatives of the news media are 
specifically directed not to report on any of the deliberations during the 
Executive Session, except to state the general subject of the session as 
previously announced.  No Executive Session may be held for the 
purpose of taking final action or making any final decision.”   

 
3. 7  Adjourned and Recessed Meeting – The City Council may adjourn or recess 
any meeting to a later date and time by a majority vote of the Councilmembers 
present. An adjourned or recessed meeting shall be scheduled no later than the next 
regular meeting. At least 24 hours’ notice shall be given announcing the date and 
time of the adjourned or recessed meeting. 
 
3. 8  Meetings Open to the Public – All meetings of the City Council shall be open 
to the public and all persons shall be permitted to attend any meeting except as 
otherwise provided by ORS 192.  
 
3. 9  Cancellation of Meeting – Upon a majority vote of the Councilmembers 
present, a meeting may be canceled when deemed appropriate. Pursuant to City 
Charter, Section 11, the Council must meet at least once a month. Notice of 
cancellation shall be posted on the bulletin boards at City Hall, Community 
Auditorium and Library and shall be posted on the City’s website and distributed to 

Page 3



Councilmembers, media representatives, and other interested parties upon written 
request. 
 
3. 10  Notice of Meeting – The City Recorder shall provide:   
 

   Notice of the meeting time;  
   Location of the meeting; and 
   List the subjects anticipated to be considered at the meeting;  
  however, this requirement shall not limit the ability to consider  
  additional subjects pursuant to ORS 192.640(1). 
 
Notice of a meeting shall be posted at least five (5) days prior to the meeting on the 
bulletin boards at City Hall, Community Auditorium and Library and shall be posted 
on the City’s website and distributed to Councilmembers, media representatives, and 
other interested parties upon written request. At least 24 hours’ notice shall be given 
for a special meeting and an adjourned meeting. Attempts shall be made to contact 
the media by telephone, fax, or e-mail to provide notice of emergency meetings.   
 
3. 11  Attendance Duty – It is the duty of each Councilmember to attend all 
meetings of the Council. The City Charter, Section 31(B)(2), provides that the 
Councilmember’s office will be deemed vacant upon absence from the City for 30 
days or from all Council meetings within a 45-day period, without Council consent.  
Consent will be given for good cause as follows:   
 

11) Illness;  
12) Family obligations; 
13) Employment requirements;  
14) Scheduled vacations; or 
15) Other City-related business 
 

3. 12   Excused/Unexcused Absence – When a Councilmember cannot attend a 
meeting, the member shall notify the City Recorder, who will notify the Mayor or 
Presiding Officer, prior to the meeting. The Mayor or Presiding Officer will determine 
if the absence is considered “excused” or “unexcused”.  If the absence is for good 
cause and there are no objections from other Councilmembers who are present, the 
City Recorder shall record the absence in the minutes as excused. If the 
Councilmembers, upon an affirmative vote of the majority of the Councilmembers 
present, determine the absence is not for good cause, the City Recorder shall record 
the absence in the minutes as unexcused. Lack of notification will constitute as an 
unexcused absence.  
 
3. 13  Telephonic Attendance – When a Councilmember is unable to physically 
attend any meeting, pursuant to Section 3.11, the member may attend by conference 
telephone with at least 24 hours’ advance notice. The City Recorder shall record in 
the minutes the time the member’s call was connected and the time the member’s 
call was disconnected.  

Page 4



SECTION 4 – THE PRESIDING OFFICER 
 
4. 1  Mayor – Pursuant to City Charter, Section 8, the Mayor shall preside over and 
facilitate all Council meetings, preserve order, enforce Council Rules, and determine 
the order of business pursuant to Council Rules, Section 6. The Mayor is a voting 
member of the Council and has no veto authority. The Mayor, with the consent of the 
Council, shall appoint members of boards, commissions, and committees established 
by ordinance or resolution.  The Mayor shall sign all records of Council decisions. 
The Mayor serves as the political head of the City.   In the absence of the Mayor, the 
Council President shall act as Mayor and serve as the Presiding Officer.  
 
4. 2  Council President – Pursuant to City Charter, Section 9, at the first meeting 
each year, the Council shall elect a Council President from its membership. The 
Council President presides in the absence of the Mayor and acts as Mayor when the 
Mayor is unable to perform duties. In the absence of the Mayor and Council President 
at a meeting where a quorum is present, the Councilmember with the longest 
continuous service shall serve as Presiding Officer pro tem until such time the 
meeting is adjourned.   
 
 
 

SECTION 5 – DECORUM AND ORDER  
 
5. 1  Presiding Officer – The Presiding Officer shall enforce the Council Rules.  In 
addition, the Presiding Officer has the authority to preserve decorum and shall 
determine all points of order, subject to the right of any Councilmember to appeal to 
the Council. The Presiding Officer shall enforce order, prevent attacks on 
personalities or impugning members’ motives, and keep those in debate to the 
question under discussion.   
 
5. 2  Councilors – Councilmembers shall preserve order and decorum during 
Council meetings, and shall not by conversation or other action, delay or interrupt the 
proceedings or refuse to obey the orders of the Presiding Officer, Council Rules, and 
Council Team Agreement.  Councilmembers shall when addressing staff or members 
of the public, confine themselves to questions or issues that are under discussion; 
shall not engage in personal attacks; shall not impugn the motives of any speaker; 
and shall at all times, while in session or otherwise, conduct themselves in a manner 
appropriate to the dignity of office.  Councilmembers shall not attack the knowledge, 
skills, abilities, and personalities or impugn City staff members’ motives in Council or 
any City meetings. In Council meetings, Councilmembers may discuss or suggest 
anything with the City Manager related to City business (pursuant to City Charter, 
Section 33.I.). 
 
5. 3  Staff and Public – Members of the administrative staff, employees of the City 
and other persons attending Council meetings shall observe the same rules of 

Page 5



procedure, decorum and good conduct applicable to the members of the Council.  
 
5. 4  Removal of Any Person – Any persons making disruptive or threatening 
remarks or actions during a meeting shall forthwith be barred from further audience at 
that meeting, unless permission to continue is granted by a majority vote of the 
Councilmembers present. The Presiding Officer may summon the assistance of the 
police or other administrative staff to prevent further interruption by such person by 
any action necessary, including the removal of that individual.  In case the Presiding 
Officer should fail to act, any Councilmember may obtain the floor and move to 
require enforcement of this rule; upon an affirmative vote of the majority of the 
Councilmembers present, the police or administrative staff shall be authorized to 
remove the person(s) if the Presiding Officer so directed.   
 
 
 

SECTION 6 – AGENDA AND ORDER OF BUSINESS  
 
6. 1 Agenda Preparation – The City Manager, or designee, shall prepare the final 
Council Meeting Agenda for each meeting, specifying the time, place, and purpose of 
the meeting and listing the subjects anticipated to be considered at the meeting. The 
final agenda and packet shall be delivered to the Council at least (5) days prior to the 
meeting. The final agenda shall be posted at least five (5) days prior to the meeting 
on the bulletin boards at City Hall, Community Auditorium and Library and shall be 
posted on the City’s website and shall be distributed to media representatives, and 
other interested parties upon written request.  At least 24 hours’ notice shall be given 
for a special meeting and an adjourned meeting. Attempts shall be made to contact 
the media by telephone, fax, or e-mail to provide notice of emergency meetings.   
 
6. 2 Review of Preliminary Agenda – The City Manager shall meet with the 
Mayor or Presiding Officer to review all preliminary Council agendas. 
 
6. 3  Councilmembers Scheduling Agenda Items: 
1. At any meeting of the Council, a Councilmember may request the Council add 

or delete an item from the final agenda for that night’s meeting.  A majority of 
the Councilmembers present at the meeting must approve the request and the 
request must not require a staff report.   

2. If a Councilmember wishes to propose an item for a future agenda, the 
Councilmember must propose the agenda item at a Council meeting and it 
must be approved by a majority of the Councilmembers present at the meeting 
before being placed on the final agenda for the next Council meeting or an 
agreed upon future Council meeting.  

 
6. 4  Order of Business – The order of business at regular meetings of the City 
Council shall be as follows: 
 

Page 6



1. CALL TO ORDER – The Presiding Officer shall call the meeting to order.  
 

 Roll Call. The City Recorder shall call the name of each Councilor and 
note each Councilor’s attendance or absence in the record, under the 
guidelines as set forth in Section 2.2 and Section 3.12, to establish if a 
quorum is present to conduct business. 

 Pledge of Allegiance. The Presiding Officer shall lead the Council and 
audience in the Pledge of Allegiance.   

 Proclamations and Awards. Proclamations and awards will be read and 
presented by the Presiding Officer, or designee, following the Pledge of 
Allegiance.  

 
2. CITIZEN COMMUNICATIONS – Anyone wishing to speak to the Council on 
an item not on the agenda may be heard at this time. In the interest of time, 
comments will be limited to two (2) minutes, unless additional time is granted by the 
Presiding Officer.  The City Recorder shall post in the foyer  before the start of a 
meeting, a Citizen Communications form (sign-in sheet).  
 
3. CONSENT AGENDA – Items on the Consent Agenda are considered routine 
and will be adopted with a single motion, without separate consideration. Any 
Councilmember or member of the public may request to remove an item(s) from the 
Consent Agenda prior to the motion to approve the item(s).  Any item(s) removed 
from the Consent Agenda will be discussed and acted upon following the approval of 
the Consent Agenda.  
 
 The Consent Agenda is subject to the following guidelines: 

- Items of routine nature, not requiring Council discussion or direction, 
may be included on the Consent Agenda at the discretion of the City 
Manager.  

- Ordinances, resolutions, orders, and other items requiring a Public 
Hearing shall not be included on the Consent Agenda.  

 
4. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS – Changes may be made to the final agenda at 
the request of the City Manager. Item(s) added to the final agenda may be placed on 
the agenda as Item 4. A. or prior to the City Manager’s Report.  
 
5. PRESENTATIONS – This is a time set aside for citizen and community group 
presentations to the Council.  Each speaker will be limited to five minutes (5), unless 
additional time is granted by the Presiding Officer.   
 
6. PUBLIC HEARINGS – All ordinances, orders, or resolutions requiring a Public 
Hearing by State law or City policy will be heard. Written and oral testimony shall be 
heard prior to Council action pursuant to the procedures addressed in Section 8. 
Public Hearings will be listed on the agenda as follows:  
 

1. Ordinances first;  

Page 7



2. Orders second; and  
3. Resolutions third.  

 
7. STAFF PRESENTATIONS – Time provided for staff members to present 
items requiring no formal action, Council direction, or Council consensus.   
 
8. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT – Time provided for the City Manager to report 
matters of interest to the Council.  
 
9. COUNCIL COMMUNICATIONS – Time provided for Councilmembers to 
report matters of interest to the Mayor and other Councilmembers. 
 
10. ADJOURNMENT – Following the completion of all matters listed on the 
agenda, the Presiding Officer shall declare the meeting adjourned.  
 
6.  5 Changing Order of Business – At any meeting of the Council, the order of 
the business may be changed or any part thereof suspended for such meeting upon 
consensus of the majority of the Councilmembers present. 
 
6.  6 Recess – The Presiding Officer may recess any meeting of the Council upon 
consensus of the majority of the Councilmembers present. The Presiding Officer shall 
announce the time in which the meeting will reconvene.  
 
6. 7 Motion for Reconsideration – Unless specifically governed by other 
provisions of the codes, ordinances, or other regulations of the City, a 
Councilmember who voted with the majority may move for reconsideration of an 
action at the same or the next following regular meeting of the Council prior to the 
approval of the minutes of the first meeting. A vote of reconsideration requires a 
majority vote of the Councilmembers present. Once a matter is reconsidered, no 
motion for further reconsideration shall be made without unanimous consent of the 
Councilmembers present.  
 
 
 

SECTION 7 – PUBLIC TESTIMONY 
 

7. 1  Public Comment Generally – Any member of the general public wishing to 
address the Council on an issue not on the agenda may do so at the time set aside 
for Citizen Communications during each regular session of the Council. Any member 
so addressing the Council shall be limited to a period of two (2) minutes, unless 
additional time is granted by the Presiding Officer.   
 
7. 2  Persons Sharing Common Concerns – If any group of three or more 
persons sharing a common viewpoint on any subject wishes to address the Council 
during the time set aside for Citizen Communications, the group may select a 

Page 8



spokesperson, which may present the views of the group to the Council to a 
maximum of five (5) minutes, unless additional time is granted by the Presiding 
Officer. The Council, in its sole discretion, may request to hear the views of additional 
speakers from the group. Additional support for the views of the group, in the form of 
petitions, letters, videotapes, etc., shall be presented to the City Recorder at the 
conclusion of the spokesperson’s remarks.   
 
7. 3  Roster – All persons or groups wishing to address the Council during the time 
set aside for Citizen Communications shall, prior to the convening of the meeting, 
sign-in on the Citizen Communications Form posted in the foyer, indicating the name 
of the person, address of the person, and subject matter on which the person or 
groups wishes to address the Council.  Those who have not signed in may address 
the Council at the discretion of the Presiding Officer.  
 
7. 4  Complaints and Suggestions to the Council – When any citizen brings a 
complaint before or makes a suggestion to the Council, other than for items on the 
current meeting agenda, the Presiding Officer shall first determine whether the issue 
is legislative or administrative in nature and then:  
(1)  If legislative, and a complaint about the letter or intent of legislative acts or 
suggestions for changes to such acts, and if the Council finds such complaint 
suggests a change to an ordinance or resolution of the City, the Council may refer the 
matter to the City Attorney, City Manager, or an advisory body for study and 
recommendation.  
(2)  If administrative, and a complaint regarding administrative staff performance, 
administrative execution or interpretation of legislative policy, or administrative policy 
within the authority of the City Manager, the Presiding Officer shall refer the complaint 
directly to the City Manager for review if the complaint has not already been 
reviewed.  The Council may direct the City Manager to report to the Council when the 
review has been completed.   
 

 
 

SECTION 8 – PUBLIC HEARINGS, 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST OR OTHER DISQUALIFICATIONS  

 
8. 1  Public Hearings – Public Hearings shall be held on each matter required by 
State law or City policy. Quasi-judicial hearing procedures shall be conducted in 
accordance with ORS 197.763, Conduct of Local Quasi-judicial Land Use Hearings, 
Notice Requirements, Hearing Requirements, unless otherwise provided in the 
Development Code. The Presiding Officer shall preside over the hearing, announce 
the purpose and type of hearing and summarize the guidelines for the conduct of the 
hearing. 
 
8. 2 Open Public Hearing – The Presiding Officer shall declare the hearing open 
and announce the type of hearing and the guidelines for the hearing. 

Page 9



8. 3 Call for Abstentions – The Presiding Officer shall call for abstentions from 
the Council.  No Councilmember shall participate in discussion or vote on a matter in 
which the Councilmember has a direct personal or pecuniary interest. If a 
Councilmember announces an abstention, the Councilmember shall identify the 
reason(s) for abstaining and shall not participate in discussion or vote on the matter. 
Exception: If the recusal results in a lack of a quorum, Councilmember may be 
counted for the purpose of establishing a quorum; however, the Councilmember must 
abstain from voting.  
 
8. 4 Ex-Parte Contact/Conflict of Interest/Prehearing Bias – Such contacts and 
conflicts apply to quasi-judicial hearings. The Presiding Officer shall call for such 
contacts or conflicts from the Council. If a Councilmember discloses an ex-parte 
contact, the Councilmember shall disclose the nature of the contact and information 
obtained. If a Councilmember discloses a conflict of interest, the Council shall 
disclose the conflict of interest. If a Councilmember discloses a prehearing bias, the 
Councilmember shall recluse themselves and shall not participate in discussion or 
vote on the matter. No Councilmember shall participate in discussion or vote on a 
matter in which the Councilmember is unable to render an unbiased decision.  
Exception: If the recusal results in a lack of a quorum, Councilmember may be 
counted for the purpose of establishing a quorum; however, the Councilmember must 
abstain from voting.  
 
8. 5 Challenge/Disqualification – Any Councilmember whose participation has 
been challenged has the right to participate and may make statement in response to 
the challenge. Such challenge must be made prior to the commencement of the 
Public Hearing and shall be incorporated into the record of the hearing.  
 
8. 6 Objections to Jurisdiction – The Presiding Officer shall inquire if there are 
objections to the jurisdiction of the Council to hear the matter, and if such objections 
are received, conduct further inquiry if necessary to determine the question. The 
Presiding Officer shall terminate the hearing if the inquiry results in substantial 
evidence the Council lacks jurisdiction or the procedural requirements are not met.  
 
8. 7 Staff Report and Recommendation – The Presiding Officer shall call forth 
the City Manager or City staff to present the staff report. All staff reports to the City 
Council shall contain the following information: 
 

 INTRODUCTORY HEADINGS: 
  Meeting Date: 

   Project Team: 
   Subject and/or Report Title: 

  Issue Statement: 
   Discussion and/or Background: 
   Fiscal Impact (negative or positive): 
   Staff Recommendation: 
 

Page 10



8. 8 Testimony – Members of the audience may present oral testimony on the 
matters scheduled for Public Hearing. The Presiding Officer will call forth members of 
the audience who have signed-in prior to the meeting to present testimony. 
Testimony will be limited to three (3) minutes, unless the Presiding Officer grants 
additional time. The Presiding Officer may further limit testimony if a speaker persists 
in being threatening and disorderly, or abusive, following a warning to that effect from 
the Presiding Officer. Upon being recognized by the Presiding Officer, any member of 
the Council or the City staff may ask questions of any speaker. Upon closure of the 
hearing, no further testimony will be allowed.  
 
8. 9  Attorney Representation – Any person attending a hearing has the right to 
be represented by an attorney.    
 
8. 10  Testimony – Land Use Public Hearings – In addition to the procedures 
outlined above and below, during a quasi-judicial hearing, the testimony must be 
directed toward the criteria described or other criteria in the plan or land use 
regulation which the person believes to apply to the decision. The hearing will be as 
follows:   

1) Staff Report 
2) Written Communications – Staff shall facilitate distribution of any written 

communications to the Council prior to commencement of the hearing. 
The City Recorder shall record in the minutes any written 
communications received.  

3) Applicant’s testimony  
4) Proponent’s case  
5) Opponent’s case  
6) Neutral testimony  
7) Rebuttal Evidence – After being recognized by the Presiding Officer, the 

applicant will be offered an opportunity for rebuttal. 
8) Close Public Testimony – After the record is closed for testimony, no 

other testimony comments will be heard from anyone unless the City 
Council has a specific question.  

9) Staff response to testimony  
10) Questions for Staff, if any, from the City Council 
11) Deliberation by the City Council 
12) Motion, amendments, if any, and Decision (based on criteria)  
13) Call for the vote  

 
8. 11 Land Use Appeal Hearings/Procedures – In addition to the procedures 
outlined above, land use appeal hearings and procedures shall be conducted 
pursuant to the provisions set forth in the Development Code.   
 
8. 12  Closing of Hearing/Council Deliberation – The Presiding Officer shall close 
the hearing or continue it to a date and time certain for presentation of further 
evidence or argument. Upon closing the hearing, the Council may deliberate on the 

Page 11



matter immediately, or may deliberate on the matter at a later time. During 
deliberations, the Council may request advice from the City Manager or City staff as 
to the consequences and implications of the proposal or alternatives thereto based 
upon the facts presented during the hearing.  
 
8. 13  Reopening of Hearing – If it appears that substantial new factual material is 
necessary to reach a decision on the matter, the Council may, by majority vote, order 
the hearing reopened or refer the matter to the Planning Commission for further 
development of the record.  Reopening of a hearing is subject to public notice 
requirements.    

 
 
 

SECTION 9 – ORDINANCES (LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY) 
 
9. 1 Ordinances – Pursuant to City Charter, Section 15, Council will exercise its 
legislative authority by adopting ordinances. The enacting clause for all ordinances 
must state “The City of Forest Grove ordains as follows:” 
 
9. 2 Ordinance Enactment – Pursuant to City Charter, Section 16, ordinances will 
be enacted as follows: 
 
(a) Except as authorized by subsection (b), enactment of an ordinance requires 

approval by a majority of the Council at two meetings. 
(b) The Council may enact an ordinance at a single meeting by unanimous 

approval by at least five (5) members, provided the proposed ordinance is 
available to the public at least seven (7) days before the meeting as prescribed 
by Council rules. 

(c) Any substantive amendment to a proposed ordinance must be read aloud 
before the Council enacts the ordinance.  

(d) After the enactment of an ordinance, the vote of each member must be 
entered into the Council minutes. 

(e) After enactment of an ordinance and signature by the Mayor, the City 
Recorder must attest to the ordinance by name, title, and date of enactment.  

 
9.3 Ordinance Effective Date – Pursuant to City Charter, Section 17, ordinances 
take effect on the 30th day after enactment, or on a later day provided in the 
ordinance.  An ordinance may take effect as soon as enacted or other date less than 
30 days after enactment if the ordinance contains an emergency clause. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



SECTION 10 – RESOLUTIONS (ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY) 
 

10. 1 Resolutions – Pursuant to City Charter, Section 18, Council will exercise its 
administrative authority by adopting resolutions.  The adopting clause for all 
resolutions must state “The City of Forest Grove resolves as follows:” 
 
10. 2 Resolution Adoption – Pursuant to City Charter, Section 19, resolutions will 
be enacted as follows: 
 

(a) Adoption of a resolution or any other Council administrative decision requires 
approval by the Council at one (1) meeting. 

(b) Any substantive amendment to a resolution must be read aloud before the 
Council adopts the resolution. 

(c) After adoption of a resolution or other administrative decision, the vote of each 
member must be entered into the Council minutes. 

(d) After adoption of a resolution and signature by the Mayor, the City Recorder 
must attest to the resolution by name, title, and date of adoption.  

 
10. 3 Resolution Effective Date – Pursuant to City Charter, Section 20, resolutions 
and other administrative decisions take effect on the date of adoption, or on a later 
day provided in the resolution. 

 
 
 

SECTION 11 – ORDERS (QUASI-JUDICIAL AUTHORITY) 
 
11. 1 Orders – Pursuant to City Charter, Section 21, Council will exercise its quasi-
judicial authority by adopting orders. The adopting clause for all orders must state 
“The City of Forest Grove orders as follows:” 
 
11. 2 Order Adoption – Pursuant to City Charter, Section 22, orders will be enacted 
as follows: 
 

(a) Adoption of an order or any other Council quasi-judicial decision requires 
approval by the Council at one (1) meeting. 

(b) Any substantive amendment to an order must be read aloud before the 
Council adopts the order. 

(c) After adoption of an order or other Council quasi-judicial decision, the vote of 
each member must be entered in the Council minutes. 

(d) After adoption of an order and signature by the Mayor, the City Recorder must 
attest to the order by name, title, and date of adoption 

 
11. 3 Order Effective Date – Pursuant to City Charter, Section 23, orders and other 
quasi-judicial decisions take effect on the date of final adoption, or on a later day 
provided in the order. 
 

Page 13



SECTION 12 – RECORD OF MEETINGS 
 
12. 1  Council Record of Meetings – Pursuant to City Charter, Section 14, City 
Council must keep a record of its proceedings and official meetings.  
 
12. 2 Responsibility – The City Recorder shall be responsible for preparing, 
amending, retaining, and furnishing copies of all City Council minutes in accordance 
with State Laws.  
 
12. 3 Content of Minutes – Minutes of meetings of the City Council shall comply 
with the provisions of ORS 192.650 and contain the following: 
 

a) Names of all Councilmembers present or absent and City staff present;  
b) Name and address, if provided, of all persons testifying; 
c) All motions, proposals, ordinances, resolutions, orders and their disposition;  
d) Results of all votes and the vote of each Councilmember by name;  
e) Substance of any discussion on any matter;  
f) Reflect the matters discussed and views of the participants;  
g) Reference any document or exhibits discussed at the meeting;  
h) Minutes shall be available to the public within seven (7) business days after 

the meeting.  
 
12. 4 Preparation of Minutes and Retention of Audio – In addition to the 
requirements in Section 12.3, official minutes of the City Council shall record the 
substance of the meeting and be concise. Minutes will generally follow the 
chronological order of the agenda items to be considered during the meeting.  
Verbatim minutes are not required.  Official proceedings of the City Council shall be 
audio recorded and be maintained in accordance with the Oregon Archives Law 
(pursuant to OAR 166).    
 
12. 5  Executive Session Minutes – Minutes of executive sessions shall be kept in 
accordance with ORS 192 in the form of audio recorded. No transcription of executive 
session minutes will be made unless otherwise required by State law.   
 
12. 6  Distribution of Minutes – Draft minutes are distributed to the City Council 
with the agenda on which the minutes appear as an item for approval.  Minutes 
released to the public prior to City Council approval shall be stamped “DRAFT”. 
Copies of audio recording may be released and made available to the public in 
accordance with the Oregon Public Records Law (pursuant to ORS 192).  
 
12. 7 Correction and Approval of Minutes – Approval of the minutes usually takes 
place at the next regular meeting following the date of the minutes under approval. 
Generally, minutes appear under the Consent Agenda. If minor amendments are 
made to the minutes, a Councilmember may offer such amendment prior to the 
Consent Agenda being adopted. For an extensive amendment, the Council shall 
remove the minutes from the Consent Agenda for separate consideration. Upon an 

Page 14



affirmative vote of the majority of the Councilmembers present, the Council may 
postpone approval of the minutes until the City Recorder prepares a transcript of the 
portion of the meeting in question. The Council is final authority as to the amendment 
to the minutes upon an affirmative vote of the majority of the Councilmembers 
present.  

 
 
 

SECTION 13 – PROCLAMATIONS 
 
13. 1  Request for Proclamations – Organizations, citizens, or Councilmembers 
may request proclamations that proclaim a specified date or dates to recognize the 
efforts of various community groups and individuals. Upon receipt, the City Recorder 
will notify the Mayor of the request. Upon the approval of the Mayor, the City 
Recorder shall prepare the proclamation for the Mayor’s signature.  
 
13. 2  Reading of Proclamations – At the discretion of the Mayor, a proclamation 
shall be read at the Council meeting and presented or mailed to the requesting 
organization or group.  

 
 

SECTION 14 – ADVISORY BOARDS, COMMISSIONS, AND COMMITTEES 
 

14.1  Advisory Boards, Commissions, and Committees –The Council may by 
ordinance or resolution establish any City advisory board, commission, or committee 
(herein referred to as “B/C”) deemed necessary and in the best interests of the City. 
Pursuant to City Charter, Section 8(C), the Mayor, with the consent of the Council, 
appoints members of B/C’s established by ordinance or resolution. 
 

14.2  Purpose – The purpose of the Advisory Boards, Commissions, and 
Committees is to encourage broad-based community representation and to advise 
City Council on public policy issues affecting Forest Grove and Council-adopted 
Goals and Objectives. All such Council-appointed groups are directly responsible to 
the Council.  
 

14.3  Membership Qualifications – To be eligible for appointment, a person must 
be 18 years of age or older and a Forest Grove resident for the duration of the 
appointed term unless expressly provided for by the adopted bylaws. Student 
appointees must be high school grade level and residing or attending school, 
including home-schooled, in Forest Grove. All appointed members are required to 
attend training courses as assigned and approved by Council. An individual member 
may not act in an official capacity. The Council may in its discretion at any time 
remove a member for any reason, including inefficiency, neglect of duty, or 
malfeasance in office. Voting members may not be employees of the City. B/C 
members serve without compensation. 

Page 15



14.4  Composition – Unless authorized by Council or required by state law, all 
B/C’s shall consist of no more than nine (9) voting members.  
 
14.5  Quorum and Meetings – Unless required by state law, a majority of the total 
number of voting B/C members constitutes a quorum. The B/C shall hold meetings no 
less than four (4) times a year, unless more frequently as established by the B/C. In 
January of each year, the B/C shall adopt a schedule of its meetings for the 
upcoming year, including meeting times and dates for holidays and canceled 
meetings. The staff liaison shall file the B/C meeting schedule with the City 
Recorder’s Office and publish meeting dates/times on the City’s website. In case of a 
meeting cancellation, the staff liaison shall post a notice at the meeting location and 
on the City’s website prior to the meeting date/time. 
 
14.6  Terms of Office and Officers – Unless required by state law, all B/C 
members shall be voting members and shall serve four (4) year terms. Student 
members shall be voting members and shall serve two (2) year terms. Terms shall be 
staggered evenly amongst the membership, beginning January 1 and ending 
December 31. The Chair and Vice Chair shall be elected by the voting members at 
the first regularly scheduled B/C meeting of each year. The Chair may not serve more 
than 48-consecutive months. Members may not serve on more than two (2) B/C’s at 
the same time. Appointments to vacant positions shall fill out the remainder of the 
unexpired term.  
 
14.7  Registry – The City Recorder’s Office shall maintain a current roster of all 
members, including appointment date, length of unexpired term, and contact 
information. A copy of the roster shall be provided to Council at least once per year or 
upon any substantial change in membership.  
 

14.8  Councilmember Liaisons – The Mayor shall appoint a Council liaison to any 
B/C.  Council Liaisons shall be a non-voting member. The Council Liaisons role is to 
collaborate between the Council and the B/C to assure each group’s collective 
interest is accurately and effectively represented to the other. This includes actively 
attending and reporting to each entity at their regular scheduled meetings. Council 
Liaison appointments shall be reconsidered every two (2) years at the first regular 
Council meeting following the time at which newly-elected Councilmembers officially 
take office or at the discretion of the Mayor. 
 
14.9  Staff Liaisons – The City Manager shall appoint a staff member as liaison to 
any B/C. Staff liaisons shall be non-voting and shall assist the B/C by utilizing their 
expertise regarding city policy and process. The staff liaison shall orient the newly-
appointed B/C members prior to the first meeting on the duties of being a member. 
The staff liaison shall review the agenda in consultation with the B/C chair, prepare 
minutes upon request of the B/C, oversee and review minutes, post minutes to the 
website as soon as possible after Council acceptance, prepare and distribute the B/C 
packet at least five (5) days prior to the meeting, post the final agenda on the bulletin 

Page 16



board and/or at the meeting location, submit legal notices for review and copies of 
approved minutes to the City Recorder’s Office, report to the City Recorder’s Office 
any member who has three or more unexcused absences, report any meeting date 
changes including cancellations, maintain official records in accordance with the city 
retention schedule (OAR166-200), and publicly post B/C documents on various 
media. 
 
14.10  Appointments and Reappointments – Member recruitment shall begin in 
September and conclude by December 31st of each year. Once the assigned term of 
office is completed, the member is excused from the appointment, unless Council 
reappoints the member for another term of service. Members must apply and be 
interviewed after every term to continue service. Interviews will be conducted by the 
Council or Council Subcommittee. Applicants who fail to attend a scheduled interview 
may forfeit the opportunity for appointment or reappointment. Once Council conducts 
interviews and makes appointment recommendations, the City Recorder Office’s 
shall notify applicants in writing of the Council’s recommendation. Formal resolutions 
making appointments will be scheduled under the Consent Agenda at the next 
regular Council meeting.  
 
14.11  Attendance – Members are expected to attend every meeting. Members shall 
notify the staff liaison prior to the regular meeting to report an absence. The minutes 
shall record the absence. The City Recorder’s Office shall notify any member who 
has three (3) or more absences in a 12-month period that their position may be 
subject to vacancy. The Chair, with the consent of the B/C, may submit a 
recommendation to Council to deem the member’s position vacant for three (3) or 
more absences in a twelve month period. 
 
14.12  Resignations and Vacancies – A member shall submit a written resignation 
to the staff liaison and make every effort to allow for a thirty-day notice. To fill 
vacancies that occur mid-term, Council shall refer to the current year interviewed 
applications kept on file in the City Recorder’s Office.   
 
14.13  Agenda – The Chair shall compose the meeting agenda in consultation with 
the staff liaison, specifying the time, place, and purpose of the meeting and listing the 
subjects anticipated to be considered. A B/C member may propose placing an item 
on the agenda at a regularly scheduled meeting. If approved by a majority of voting 
members present, the agenda item will be placed on the next regularly scheduled 
meeting agenda or an agreed upon future meeting agenda. The agenda shall follow a 
standard template provided by the City.  
 
14.14  Open Meetings, Written Minutes and Public Records – All meetings and 
hearings shall be held in compliance with Public Meetings Law (ORS Chapter 192) 
and subject to Public Records Law (ORS Chapter 192). A public meeting is defined 
as two or more members meeting who have been delegated authority by the B/C to 
advise or make recommendations to the B/C. Written minutes are required for all 

Page 17



meetings. Written minutes may include a briefly summarized record of what took 
place and must include any action items, showing the attendance and vote of each 
member. Verbatim minutes are not required. The minutes shall follow a standard 
template provided by the City. 
 
14.15  Bylaws – Changes to a B/C’s bylaws or rules of procedures must be approved 
by City Council. The bylaws shall follow a standard template provided by the City.  
 
14.16  Annual Reporting – The Chair shall submit an Annual Report to the City 
Council listing the B/C’s major activities for the past year and objectives for the 
coming year. The Annual Reports shall be scheduled on the Council Calendar and 
approved in January. 
 
14.17  Conflicts of Interest and Ethics Law – Members are considered public 
officials subject to the Oregon Government Ethics Law (ORS 244), which seeks to 
prevent a public official from receiving financial gain or avoiding a financial detriment 
because of their status as a public official. Members are also subject to the 
Restrictions on Political Campaigning when acting in official capacity (ORS 260.432). 
Planning Commissioners are personally responsible to file an Annual Verified 
Statement of Economic Interest (SEI) form with the Oregon Government Ethics 
Commission by April 15 of each calendar year. A civil penalty may be imposed by the 
State for each violation of any provision of the ORS. 

 
 
 

SECTION 15 – ELECTRONIC MAIL 
 

15. 1  Electronic Mail – All Councilmembers shall observe the following guidelines 
when using an electronic method for correspondence in their elected roles: 
 

1) All Council e-mail correspondence is subject to the Oregon Public Records 
and Meetings Laws and is subject to disclosure (pursuant to ORS 192).  

2) E-mail may be used for correspondence, to schedule meetings, send 
informative messages, or request information from other members of the 
Council, the City Manager, or City Department Directors.  

3)  E-Mail may not be used to discuss policy issues with a quorum of the Council 
at one time or a quorum of a standing advisory body in any manner which 
would be in violation of the Oregon Public Meetings Law (pursuant to ORS 
192). 

  
 

Page 18



SECTION 16 – CITY COUNCIL GOAL SETTING  
 
16. 1  Council Goal Setting 
 

1) Goal Setting Parameters – The City Council shall set its goals annually.  The 
goals shall include Short-Term Goals and Objectives that the Council plans on 
completing within the next 12 months and Long-Term Goals and Objectives 
that the Council plans to work on during their term of office and/or future goals 
and objectives that may take longer to complete.  

 
2)  Adoption – Council Goals and Objectives shall be adopted at a regular 

meeting of the City Council no later than the second regular session in March 
of the year.  

 
 

SECTION 17 – CITY COUNCIL TRAINING AND STIPENDS  
 
17. 1  Council Training – All Councilmembers are expected to attend at least one 
City-affiliated training seminar/conference per calendar year.  The annual events that 
qualify are listed below:  
 

 League of Oregon Cities Annual Conference 

 League of Oregon Cities Elected Officials Training Sessions 
 

17. 2 Mayor Training – In addition to the above expectation, the Mayor is expected 
to represent the City at the annual conferences of the Oregon Mayor’s Association.  
 
17. 3 Council Training Budget – The Budget Committee, consisting of the Council, 
shall set the Council Training Budget annually at the recommendation of the City 
Manager.  
 
17. 4 Reimbursement Allowance – Reimbursement allowances for travel, meals 
not included with the training session, and overnight accommodations expenses may 
be requested for training and conferences. Training and conference registrations and 
accommodations requests shall be submitted to the City Manager, or designee, who 
will make all necessary arrangements on behalf of the requester.  
 

17. 5 Council Stipends – Council stipends shall be set by resolution.  
 

 
 

SECTION 18 – MISCELLANEOUS 
 

18. 1  Amendments to Council Rules – Amendments to these Council Rules shall 
be by made by Council resolution. 
 

Page 19



 



   CITY OF FOREST GROVE            P. O. BOX 326          FOREST GROVE, OR 97116            503-992-3200         www.forestgrove-or.gov 

 

 
CITY COUNCIL TEAM AGREEMENT 

 

Pursuant to Resolution No. 2019-14, the Agreement for City Council Conduct  
    
1. Attendance at Council meetings is first priority; if unable to attend, please contact the City 

Recorder. 
2. Be on time to meetings and read the packet prior to the meeting - be prepared to work. 
3. Mayor will take the lead in keeping the meeting and discussion focused.  
4. Distribute information in advance of Council discussion. 
5. Mayor will recognize Councilors when indicating they wish to speak. 
6. Use formal procedure (point of order, call for question, etc.) to focus the meeting.  Formal 

procedure may be used when necessary for effective discussion in lieu of Council’s usual, 
more informal, process.  Individuals should use procedure appropriately and courteously. 

7. Council meetings are televised live; this requires Council to act professionally by:  

 Treating the public and each other with courtesy; 

 Speaking in turn and on the issue;  

 No interrupting;  

 No engaging in side conversations; and 

 No personal communication on electronic devices while conducting 
business at the dais.  

9. Refrain from personal attacks, including to presenters, staff, and Council. 
10. Agree to be diplomatic about disagreement; leave disagreement at the dais and do not try 

to polarize other Councilors. 
11. Call the City Manager or designee with questions and requests prior to the meeting. 
12. Information available to one council member will be available to all, in a timely manner.  
13. Every effort shall be made to adjourn meetings by 9:30 p.m. Council recess shall be called 

if meeting extends past 9:30 p.m.  
14. Councilors may request on their own accordance one-on-one meetings with the Mayor.  

 
Individual Council Member Conduct Agreements 
 
Council Members agree to: 

 Be straightforward about goals and issues. 

 Cultivate exchange of views with other councilors. 

 Avoid saying or doing anything that would discredit or harm the City. 

 Cordial, courteous behavior in and outside of meetings. 
 

Commitments as a Council 
 

      Council strives to: 

 Continue to improve citizen involvement, awareness and participation. 

 Improve follow-up and resolution of citizen concerns or complaints. 

 Act as an advocate for the City.   



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



RESOLUTION NO.  2020-36 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF FOREST GROVE CITY COUNCIL  
ADOPTING CITY COUNCIL GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 2020/2021 

AND REPEALING RESOLUTION NO. 2019-13 
   
 WHEREAS, pursuant to City Council Rules of Procedure, Section 16, the City 
Council must set its goals and objectives annually; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council met in Work Session with Sara Wilson, SSW 
Consulting, on October 14, 2019, to address developing core values and updating the 
City’s Vision Statement identified in 2019, Objective 3.14; and subsequently, Wilson 
provide facilitation services and one-on-one interviews with all Councilors and Directors 
as a gateway for the Council pre-Retreat Work Session on February 10 and Council and 
Management Team Goal-Setting Retreat on February 15, 2020; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council held a Work Session on March 16, 2020, to refine 
the proposed Council Goals and Objectives for 2020/2021; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Council identified 7 new Goals and 34 new Objectives for 
2020/2021 as shown in Exhibit A.  
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF FOREST GROVE 
AS FOLLOWS:  
 
 Section 1.  The City of Forest Grove City Council hereby adopts its City Council 
Goals and Objectives 2020/2021 as shown in Exhibit A.  
 
 Section 2.   Resolution No. 2019-13 is hereby repealed.  
 
 Section 3.  This resolution is effective immediately upon its enactment by the 
City Council.   
 
 PRESENTED AND PASSED this 13th day of April, 2020 
 

  
  _______________________________ 
 Anna D. Ruggles, City Recorder 
 
 APPROVED by the Mayor this 13th day of April, 2020. 
 

                                                                                   
  _______________________________ 
  Peter B. Truax, Mayor 

aruggles
Typewritten Text

aruggles
Typewritten Text

aruggles
Typewritten Text

aruggles
Typewritten Text

aruggles
Typewritten Text

aruggles
Typewritten Text



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



CITY COUNCIL 
GOALS 2020/21

1924 Council Street
Forest Grove, Oregon 97116

CITY OF FOREST GROVE
W : www.forestgrove-or.gov
P  : (503)992-3200

Adopted April 13, 2020



INTRODUCTION

The City of Forest Grove is pleased to present the summary of their 
annual goal-setting retreat. The City Council and Management Team 
conducted a one-day retreat on February 15, 2020 to discuss current 
community projects and issues and provide City staff with direction 
regarding the Council’s priorities for the coming years.  The City hired 
a professional facilitator, Sara Singer Wilson of SSW Consulting to 
prepare and guide the group through their discussion. In advance of 
the retreat, City staff presented an update on the progress of the 2019 
Council goals to provide context for the upcoming session. To prepare 
the agenda, SSW conducted outreach with the Council and staff to 
identify and discuss their goals and expected outcomes for the session. 
The agenda for the discussion was based on the following outcomes 
identified during the outreach process: 

 » Confirm and/or redirect priorities on current Council goals;
 » Identify new goals and priorities; 
 » Build a strong and cohesive team to communicate and advance 

the goals; and, 
 » Outline the community engagement goals for the visioning process.

The City Council and staff worked closely together to identify goals 
that would build on the work and success of previous years, while also 
addressing new challenges and/or changing community needs. The 
City will work on these goals in addition to maintaining the City’s high-
quality core services. 

The team’s engagement and participation were much appreciated, 
and we look forward to working together with the community and our 
partners as we set out to advance these goals. 

Sincerely, 
City of Forest Grove City Council + Management Team

2  || COUNCIL GOALS 2020/21CITY OF FOREST GROVE



COUNCIL GOALS
2020/21

INTRODUCTION 02

OUR TEAM 04

05FOREST GROVE’S VISION

06SETTING THE CONTEXT

072020 GOALS + OBJECTIVES

11GRAPHIC SUMMARY

12WORKING TOGETHER

TABLE OF CONTENTS

14REPORTING PROGRESS

14APPENDIX

  ||  3COUNCIL GOALS 2020/21 CITY OF FOREST GROVE



OUR TEAM

Jesse VanderZanden, City Manager
Brenda Camille, Human Resources Manager
Paul Downey, Administrative Services Director
Tom Gamble, Parks and Recreation Director
Keith Hormann, Light & Power Director
Jeff King, Economic Development Manager
Michael Kinkade, Fire Chief
Bryan Pohl, Community Development Director
Henry Reimann, Interim Police Chief
Greg Robertson, Public Works Director
Anna Ruggles, City Recorder
Colleen Winters, Library Director

CITY COUNCIL

CITY MANAGEMENT TEAM

Peter B. Truax, Mayor
Malynda Wenzl, Council President
Timothy A. Rippe, Councilor
Elena Uhing, Councilor
Mariana E. Valenzuela, Councilor
Adolph “Val” Valfre, Jr., Councilor
Council Position 7, Temporarily Vacant

SARA SINGER WILSON, Principal/Owner

CONSULTANT/FACILITATOR

4  || COUNCIL GOALS 2020/21CITY OF FOREST GROVE



FOREST GROVE’S VISION

Forest Grove is a friendly, twenty-first century, small, full-service city. It was settled in 1841 
by pioneers who valued respect for education, faith, enterprise, service to humanity, and the 
bountiful resources of the Tualatin Plain. Those values persist to inspire a common vision for 
a high quality of life in a thriving and progressive community that reaches om its historical 
commercial core around Pacific University to a horizon of forests, farms, vineyards, and the 
Coast Range. As an engaged and diverse people, we assure sustainability in our economy and 
our environment, thus supporting a community that nurtures our youth, educates all residents, 
and attracts and welcomes visitors. Forest Grove is itself a destination that thrives by design 
and is our home.

In 2019, the City Council included an objective to update the community vision and identify 
community values. In October 2019, the Council identified their desired outcomes for the 
community visioning process: 

 » Develop an updated vision that is succinct and provides unity of purpose and direction for 
the community and its partners;

 » Identify and communicate the values that reflect the Forest Grove community of today;  
 » Develop a vision and values that are flexible and responsive to the changing needs of the 

community. It should include a process for regular plan evaluation and updates; and, 
 » The engagement plan should be inclusive of the greater community. We should engage 

those who care about the future of Forest Grove including residents, community partners, 
and people beyond the city limits. The engagement should be intentional about reaching 
those who are not typically included. 

To continue this work, one of the desired outcomes for retreat was to outline the community 
engagement goals for the visioning process. The team had intended to spend time discussing 
the engagement strategy; however, due to time constraints the Council decided the discussion 
on the community vision engagement would be continued at a future meeting. 

  ||  5COUNCIL GOALS 2020/21 CITY OF FOREST GROVE



On February 10, 2020, the City Council held a Work Session is to review progress on the City 
Council’s 2019 Goals and Objectives to help contextualize the February 15th City Council 
Retreat and in doing so, afford Councilors additional opportunity to have focused discussion 
during the Retreat. The progress report includes status updates on the 2019/2020 goals and 
is available to view on the City’s website at www.forestgrove-or.gov. 

Additionally, during the retreat, the City Council raised other challenges or opportunities 
to be considered during the goal-setting process as shown in the visual below. 

SETTING THE CONTEXT

2019 GOALS + PROJECTS CURRENTLY UNDERWAY

Scanned with CamScanner

6  || COUNCIL GOALS 2020/21CITY OF FOREST GROVE



The Council reviewed the context provided in the annual report and the Council discussion 
that followed. They convened with staff in small groups to discuss the ideas and their 
top priorities. These ideas were mapped during a group discussion to look for emerging 
common themes. The ideas were refined by the group, and the Council indicated their 
top priorities in each goal area. The goals are listed based on the priorities expressed 
by Council. 

Following the retreat, the management team met to review and further refine the results 
and to clarify the goals and objectives into actionable items. The team also identified 
an estimated timeline for each action based on current staffing and workload. The goals 
and objectives will be addressed by the organization in their work plan in addition to 
projects already underway and their commitment to delivering quality City services to 
the Forest Grove community. The City’s Boards and Commissions will also be engaged 
in the implementation of these goals and objectives where applicable. The Board or 
Commission* supporting each objective has been identified in the chart below. The 
Council will reconvene as needed to discuss progress on these projects and make updates 
where necessary.

2020 COUNCIL GOALS

GOALS + OBJECTIVES STAFF LEAD TIMELINE

1.1 Develop a DEI plan that includes an assessment of 

hiring practices and equitable delivery of city services 

and operations.

1.2 Continue DEI Advisory Team and internal 

assessment.  

GOAL 1: SUPPORT DIVERSITY, EQUITY, AND INCLUSION (DEI) IN THE DELIVERY OF CITY 

SERVICES AND OPERATIONS. 

ADM/COUNCIL

ADM

CM

2 Years

2 Years

1 Year
1.3 Support training for DEI Advisory Team, Directors, 

and Council.  

BOARD OR
COMMISSION

TBD

NA

NA

* Boards and Commissions include the following: Committee for Community Involvement (CCI), Economic 
Development Commission (EDC), Library Commission (LC), Planning Commission (PC), Parks and 
Recreation (P&R), Public Safety Advisory Commission (PSAC). 

  ||  7COUNCIL GOALS 2020/21 CITY OF FOREST GROVE



GOALS + OBJECTIVES STAFF LEAD TIMELINE

3.1 Partner to help those experiencing homelessness.

3.2 Partner with Forest Grove School District to enhance 

library coordination.

GOAL 3: ENHANCE PARTNERSHIPS. 

CM

LIB

CD

2 Years

2 Years

2 Years3.3 Partner to address downtown parking needs. 

3.5 Collaborate with community partners to plan for 

the City’s sesquicentennial. 
CM 2 Years

3.6 Collaborate with regional and local partners to 

attract higher wage jobs. ED 2 Years

3.4 Develop relationships between student liaisons and 

student government. 
CM 1 Year

GOAL 2: ENABLE HOUSING SUPPLY AND AFFORDABILITY. 

2.1 Evaluate scalable system development charges 

(SDCs). 
CD 2 Years

2.2 Develop Oak Street Plan.
CD 1 Year

2.3 Evaluate parking requirements relative to 

housing density. 
CD 2 Years

2.4 Assess capacity for Community Development to 

meet the increasing demands of planned growth.   CD 1 Year

2.5 Evaluate recommendations from the City’s Housing 

Needs Analysis and develop an implementation plan.   
CD 3 Years

* Objective 2.2: Develop Oak Street Plan also supports Goal 5. 

BOARD OR
COMMISSION

TBD

LC

TBD

CCI

EDC

CCI

P&R/EDC

EDC/PC

PC

NA

P&R/EDC

8  || COUNCIL GOALS 2020/21CITY OF FOREST GROVE



GOALS + OBJECTIVES STAFF LEAD TIMELINE

5.1 Complete Fire Task Force work to determine effect 

on City finances. 

5.2 Plan for a future police facility. 

GOAL 5: MAINTAIN FINANCIAL AND ORGANIZATIONAL SUSTAINABILITY THROUGH LONG-TERM 

PLANNING AND SUPPORT FOR  ECONOMIC AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT.

ADM/LE

ADM/POL

CD/ED

2 Years

1 Year

1 Year
5.3 Ensure adequate long-term industrial and 

commercial property supply. 

5.4 Prepare a five-year general fund financial plan. ADM 2 Years

5.5 Refine West Side Plan Financial Plan. 
CD/ENG/ADM 3 Years

5.6 Complete Neighborhood Mixed Use Zone 

Refinement.
CD 1 Year

GOAL 4: IMPROVE INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL COMMUNICATIONS AND ENGAGEMENT. 

4.1 Complete and implement the Communications 

Plan. 

4.4 Provide outreach materials that provide an overview 

and tips for engaging in the public process. 

ADM

CD

2 Years

1 Year

4.2 Engage community in the development of 

community vision and values. CM 2 Years

4.3 Provide customer service training to City staff to 

promote consistent, positive service to the community. ADM 1 Year

BOARD OR
COMMISSION

PSAC

PSAC

EDC

NA

TBD

PC

CCI

NA

CCI

NA

  ||  9COUNCIL GOALS 2020/21 CITY OF FOREST GROVE



GOALS + OBJECTIVES STAFF LEAD TIMELINE

GOAL 7: EXPAND RECREATION OPPORTUNITIES.

7.1 Identify park project development priorities.  

7.4 Partner to study Eastside Park. 

PARKS

PARKS

2 Years

1 Year

7.2 Support Council Creek Regional Corridor.* PARKS 3 Years

7.3 Partner to enhance recreation coordination. PARKS 2 Years

* Objective 7.2: Support Council Creek Regional Corridor also supports Goal 6. 

GOAL 6: PROMOTE SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORTATION ALTERNATIVES AND ENHANCE MOBILITY. 

6.1 Identify high use areas with no sidewalks and 

include in public works projects. 
PW 2 Years

6.2 Incorporate sidewalk and curb American with 

Disabilities Act (ADA) retrofits into public works 

projects.

PW 3 Years

6.3 Incorporate electric and/or hybrid vehicles into 

the City fleet. 
PW/LP 3 Years

6.4 Provide adequate charging stations at public 

facilities.
LP 1 Year

6.5 Prioritize Transportation Development Tax (TDT) 

projects. 
PW 1 Year

6.6 Assess areas with few transportation alternatives 

and identify options to enhance mobility. 
PW 3 Years

BOARD OR
COMMISSION

P&R

P&R

P&R

P&R

NA

NA

SC

SC

NA

NA

10  || COUNCIL GOALS 2020/21CITY OF FOREST GROVE



GRAPHIC SUMMARY

  ||  11COUNCIL GOALS 2020/21 CITY OF FOREST GROVE



WORKING TOGETHER

The Council and staff appreciate the positive and collaborative relationship that has been 
established over the years. The team discussed what would support success in implementing 
the goals in the coming years. The list below is a summary of the key success factors 
identified by the team: 

EXCELLENT COMMUNICATION: Clear and consistent two-way communication between the 
City Council and staff. 
CLEAR GOALS AND OBJECTIVES:  The goals and objectives are clearly communicated and 
supported with adequate resources. 
AUTHENTIC: An environment that encourages a realistic, direct, and honest assessment of 
issues and solutions that are financially feasible. 
ONE TEAM: We operate as a team and accept decisions once they have been made, offering 
our full support for implementation. 
TRUSTWORTHY INFORMATION: Staff will provide objective, accurate, and timely information 
to support the Council’s decision-making process. The Council will be clear in their requests 
and patient while staff prepares a response.  
PREPARED: We come to the table prepared, reviewing meeting materials, anticipating 
questions and concerns, and providing advance communication of issues or concerns 
when needed. 
SHARED COMMUNITY COMMITMENT: We recognize our shared commitment to providing 
the best city services to everyone in the Forest Grove community. 

12  || COUNCIL GOALS 2020/21CITY OF FOREST GROVE



In addition, the City Council discussed what is required for their success as an elected body. 
The Council expressed their commitment to…

WE WILL...

 » Promote civility.
 » Embrace and encourage diverse backgrounds.
 » Make decisions as a body, not individually.
 » Practice active listening.
 » Provide more opportunities for brainstorming during work sessions.
 » Police and enforce team rules. Once a decision is made, we move on.
 » Respect individual perspectives.
 » Share the Council workload providing clear assignments that utilize individual   

 strengths while also building capacity for future leadership opportunities.
 » Attend meetings and be prepared. 
 » Respect family first.

  ||  13COUNCIL GOALS 2020/21 CITY OF FOREST GROVE



REPORTING PROGRESS

The City’s management team is tasked with advancing these goals and objectives using the 
resources allocated by the Council. To ensure success, City staff will provide quarterly updates 
on the progress of the Council’s goals. For additional support or clarification, staff will schedule 
time at a Council Work Session to seek Council’s direction as needed. In January 2021, staff will 
present the Council with an annual report highlighting the progress on the goals. 

This implementation structure creates accountability and ensures ongoing communication and 
collaboration between the Council and staff in advancing these goals to better the Forest Grove 
community. Additionally, the management team will communicate the goals and objectives to 
the organization to build further understanding and support for advancing this work. Staff’s 
contributions to these goals will be highlighted and recognized in the progress reports to the 
Council. 

APPENDIX

During the retreat, other topics were raised that were not related to the goal setting, but were 
identified as parking lot topics for future discussion. 

PARKING LOT TOPICS

 » Definition of full-service City
 » Have a conversation about engaging outlying community members

14  || COUNCIL GOALS 2020/21CITY OF FOREST GROVE



Page 1 of 10 

CITY COUNCIL ORIENTATION 
  

CITY’S ORGANIZATIONAL 
CHART: 

The City’s Organizational Chart is to show the hierarchical 
structure, or chain of command, within the City. Each box depicts 
a City department or position, with those on the same level being 
of equal rank.  The chart also illustrates relationships between 
departments and people in the City.    

  
CITY CHARTER: The Forest Grove City Charter exercises the City’s power to the 

fullest extent under the Oregon Constitution and laws of the State 
and is enacted by Forest Grove voters as a Home Rule Charter.   

  
 COUNCIL POWERS:  Pursuant to City Charter, Chapter II, the Council has a "general 

grant of powers" provision that permits the Council to take actions 
allowed under federal and state constitutions and laws. The 
general grant of powers allows maximum discretion for Council to 
decide matters relating to their organization, powers, functions, 
and finances without recourse to the state legislature.   

  
 QUORUM: Pursuant to City Charter, Chapter III, quorum majority is four (4).  

A quorum of the Council is required in order to make a decision 
or to deliberate toward a decision on any matter. If four or more 
members gather, it is a meeting and public notice must be given, 
except for: 

 Onsite inspections on any project or program  
 Gathering of any national, regional or state associations to 

which the Council belongs; and 
 Purely social gatherings.   

  
 MOTIONS:  Motions are made orally and need only to be seconded to be 

brought to discussion and a vote. Pursuant to City Charter, 
Section 13, a motion must be adopted by a majority of a quorum 
of the Council, except when the Charter requires approval by a 
majority vote (i.e., Ordinance enactment).  A motion is 
documented in the Council minutes. Consensus refers to an 
informal acknowledgement that a majority of the Council agrees 
on a particular position. No formal vote is taken.  The City has 
adopted Robert's Rules of Order: http://www.robertsrules.com/. 

  
 CITY COUNCIL 

ELECTED: 
Pursuant to City Charter, Section VII, the Council consists of a 
Mayor and six Councilors elected from the City at-large, each for 
four (4) year terms. Three (3) Councilor positions are elected in 
the General Election every two years.  

  
  COUNCIL APPOINTED 

OFFICERS: 
Pursuant to City Charter, Chapter VIII, the Council appoints the 
City Manager, City Attorney, Municipal Judge and City Auditor. All 
serve at the pleasure of the Council and may be removed at any 
time by a majority of the Council. 

  



Page 2 of 10 

 COUNCIL-CITY 
MANAGER: 

Pursuant to City Charter, Chapter VIII, the City has a council-
manager form of government. The City Manager is appointed by 
Council and may be removed at any time by a majority of the 
Council. The Council sets policy and the City Manager 
implements it. 

 CITY MANAGER 
EVALUATION: 

Pursuant to employment contract, the Council must evaluate the 
City Manager’s performance at least once each year.  Pursuant 
to ORS 192.660(7)(D), the Council must adopt hiring standards 
and criteria and policy directives in meetings open to the public. 
Pursuant to City Charter, Chapter VII, the City Manager is 
appointed and may be removed at any time by a majority of the 
Council. 

  
 PERSONNEL POLICIES:  

 
 
 

Pursuant to City Charter, Section IX, Council adopts by 
resolution personnel policies governing recruitment, selection, 
promotion, transfer, demotion, suspension, layoff and dismissal of 
City employees based on merit and fitness.   

  
BUDGET COMMITTEE:  Pursuant to Oregon Budget Law, ORS Chapter 294, the City is 

required to establish a Budget Committee to assist with the 
budget process. The City’s Budget Committee consists of the City 
Council and seven citizens appointed by the Mayor with the 
consent of the Council.  

  
COUNCIL RULES OF 

PROCEDURE / POLICES: 
Council Rules of Procedure:  The Council adopts by resolution 
rules governing its meetings and proceedings. These rules are 
designed to promote efficiency and consistency in conducting 
Council business in a timely manner.  

  
 COUNCIL AGENDA: Pursuant to Council Rules, Section 6, the Preliminary agenda is 

prepared by the City Manager in consultation with the Mayor.  
Councilmembers may request at any Council meeting to add or 
delete an item from the Final agenda for that night’s meeting. A 
majority of the Councilmembers present at the meeting must 
approve the request and the request must not require a staff 
report. If Councilmember wishes to propose an item for a future 
agenda, the Councilmember must propose the agenda item at a 
Council meeting and it must be approved by a majority of the 
Councilmembers present at the meeting before being placed on 
the Final agenda for the next Council meeting or an agreed upon 
future Council meeting.  

  
 COUNCIL ATTENDANCE:  Pursuant to Council Rules, Section 3, it is the duty of each 

Councilmember to attend all meetings as a priority of the Council.  
Consent is given for good cause as follows: 
 Excused – with consent of Council (advising the Mayor, 

City Manager, or City Recorder if unable to attend will 
excuse you). 

 Unexcused – No advance notice given. 
Pursuant to City Chapter, Section 31, a Council seat can be 
deemed vacant upon absence from the City for 30 days or from 



Page 3 of 10 

all Council meetings within a 45-day period, without Council 
consent. 

  
 COUNCIL LIAISON TO 
BOARDS, COMMITTEES 

AND COMMISSIONS:  

Pursuant to Council Rules, Section 14, the Mayor shall appoint 
Councilmembers as liaisons to any board, commission, 
committee or ad-hoc committee as well as to represent local, 
state and sometimes federal boards.  The Council Liaison 
appointments shall be reconsidered every two years at the first 
regular Council meeting following the time at which newly-elected 
Councilmembers officially take office or at the discretion of the 
Mayor. The Council Liaison’s role “shall reflect the collective 
interests and goals of the Council” and shall be non-voting. The 
Councilor does not have the authority to commit the City to any 
course of action, but can make recommendations to the Council 
regarding proposed actions.  

  
 COUNCIL GOALS AND 

GOAL OBJECTIVES: 
Pursuant to Council Rules, Section 16, the Council must set its 
goals annually no later than the second regular meeting in March. 
The Council holds a Council Goal-Setting Retreat normally in 
January/February. The Council goals include Short-Term Goals 
and Objectives that the Council plans on completing within the 
next 12 months and Long-Term Goals and Objectives that the 
Council plans to work on during their term of office and/or future 
goals and objectives that may take longer to complete.  The 
Goals (currently fiscal year) that Council sets/adopts annually 
help guide the City administration and departments as they plan 
for the upcoming budget year. The Department Directors are 
directed by the City Manager to incorporate any significant 
Council Goals and Objectives (current fiscal year) into their work 
plans and provide funding source information if required.   

  
COUNCIL TEAM 

AGREEMENT: 
The Council has an adopted Team Agreement for conducting 
Council meetings and business and Council conduct.  The 
Council Team Agreement is reviewed annually.  

  
FOREST GROVE CODE: The Forest Grove Code is the legal municipal code of the City 

and contains Council-adopted ordinances and regulations and is 
enforceable only within the City’s jurisdiction. The Code is 
currently undergoing a re-codification process: Code of 
Ordinances. The Development Code contains Council-adopted 
ordinances and development standards and regulations and is 
enforceable only within the City’s jurisdiction.  

  
COUNCIL VISION 

STATEMENT: 
The Council adopted the original City’s Vision Statement in 1993. 
The Vision Statement serves as the overarching document that 
brings together social, physical, economic and other 
considerations into a complete statement on the future of Forest 
Grove. The accompanying action plan, based on the Vision 
Statement, aims to utilize various resources within the entire 
community to achieve the goals and objectives of the Vision 
Statement.  



Page 4 of 10 

  
PUBLIC RECORDS AND 

MEETINGS: 
Public Records and Meetings Manual:  The guide includes 
informational links to statutes and rules governing public records 
and meetings.  

  
COUNCIL MEETINGS: Oregon's Public Meetings Law, ORS 192.610 to 192.710, 

requires that decisions of the Council be arrived at openly and 
giving members of the public the right to attend all meetings of 
the Council at which decisions about the City’s business are 
made or discussed, with few exceptions (refer to Executive 
Sessions below). Council meetings must be held in the City and 
at a place accessible to the disabled, and a good faith effort to 
provide an interpreter for the hearing impaired when requested to 
do so.  Oregon law prohibits smoking at public meetings. 
 

 City Council Meetings are televised live by Tualatin Valley 
Community Television (TVCTV) Government Access 
Programming, Ch 30.  To watch meetings, visit TVCTV.   

 Parking in the Community Auditorium area, 1915 Main 
Street, is available for all meetings.  During normal 
business hours, parking may be subject to parking 
enforcement regulations.   

  
EXECUTIVE SESSIONS:  Executive Sessions are authorized under ORS 192.660. 

Executive sessions may be held to discuss certain matters 
specified by law, ORS 192.660, including: 
 

 Dismissal or disciplining of an officer or employee or 
performance evaluation of an officer or employee, unless 
the officer or employee requests an open meeting; 

 Deliberations with persons designated to negotiate real 
property transactions; 

 Deliberations with persons designated to conduct labor 
negotiations; 

 Discussion of records that are exempt from public 
inspection (for these executive sessions, media may be 
excluded); 

 Legal rights and duties of a public body with regard to 
current litigation or litigation likely to be filed; 

 Review and evaluation of an executive officer, public 
officer, employee or staff member, unless an open hearing 
is requested by the person being reviewed 

 
Council can take no final action in Executive Session; however, 
an opinion or consensus of the Council may be gathered.  
Matters discussed in Executive Sessions are confidential and 
exempt from public disclosure.  Council, City Manager and staff, 
as well as representatives of the News media, are specifically 
directed not to report on any of the deliberations during the 
Executive Session, except to state the general subject of the 



Page 5 of 10 

session as announced at the start of the Executive Session.  
Disclosure negates the public policy protections provided by the 
Public Meetings Law and may result in a waiver of any 
confidentiality privilege attached, such as with respect to 
discussions with legal counsel.  In addition, disclosure may 
violate an individual’s privacy rights, exposing the Councilor and 
City to liability. Willful disclosure for the purpose of harming 
another or for pecuniary gain could constitute an ethics violation 
or official misconduct pursuant to ORS 162.415, 162.425 and 
244.040(4).  

  
COUNCIL PACKET: 

 
The Council Packet is posted on the City’s website:  
http://www.forestgrove-or.gov/meetings.  

 A link to the agenda and packet is provided via email to 
Council.   

 The packet is processed normally Tuesday and no later 
than Wednesday before a Council meeting.  It is 
imperative to read the packet before the meeting.   

 Pursuant to the Council Team Agreement, please direct 
questions and/or concerns pertaining to staff reports 
and/or packet information to the City Manager prior to the 
meeting.   

  
MEETING MINUTES:  Pursuant to ORS 192.650, written minutes of all meetings are 

required, except Executive Sessions, which may be tape-
recorded. The written minutes serve as a source of information 
for the Council and the public. Minutes of a Council meeting 
validate or prove that ordinances and other actions have been 
approved. Minutes are always available to the public under the 
Public Records Law, ORS 192.410 to 192.505. The minutes must 
be approved at a subsequent meeting of the public body, subject 
to any corrections.  Minutes include a record of what took place, 
but not every word that was said. Speeches, statements or 
discussions are not transcribed verbatim, except when the 
information is necessary to understand what took place during 
the meeting. The written minutes and contain the following 
minimum information: (a) members present; (b) motions, 
proposals, resolutions, orders, ordinances and measures 
proposed and their disposition; (c) results of all votes; (d) the 
substance of any discussion on any matter; and (e) a reference to 
any document discussed at the meeting. For a meeting called 
with less than 24-hour notice, the minutes must also describe the 
emergency justifying the short notice.  

  
CITIZEN PARTICIPATION:  The Public Meetings Law does not guarantee the public a right to 

interact with Council during meetings. Public hearings, advisory 
committees, neighborhood associations, volunteer participation, 
public opinion polls, and interest groups are several avenues in 
the "two-way street" of citizen participation. With the exception of 
elections, public hearings are the most traditional and most 



Page 6 of 10 

prevalent way of getting citizens involved in local government 
decisions. The Council meeting agenda allows for Citizen 
Communications on items that are not on the printed agenda.  In 
the interest of time, Citizen Communications is limited to two (2) 
minutes unless the presiding officer/Mayor grants an extension of 
time.  

  
COUNCIL CALENDAR: The Council Meeting Calendar is prepared in coordination with 

the Mayor and the City Manager.  The Council Calendar contains 
meetings Councilmembers normally attend.  A copy of the 
calendar is provided with each meeting packet and a hardcopy is 
provided at the meeting.   

  
COUNCIL E-MAIL:  All Councilmembers are provided a City e-mail address:  

FirstInitialLastName@forestgrove-or.gov.  City e-mail is 
forwarded to Councilor’s home computer e-mail address.  
Pursuant to Council Rules of Procedure, Councilmembers must 
observe guidelines when using e-mail for correspondence in their 
elected role.  Pursuant to ORS 192, all Council e-mail is subject 
to Oregon Public Records and Meetings Laws and is subject to 
public disclosure.  E-mail may not discuss policy issues with a 
quorum of the Council at any time.  

  
NEWS MEDIA:  The City Manager has assigned responsibility to designated staff 

for City-related media relations.  This includes speeches and 
presentations by Council at civic affairs and service club 
meetings, personal contact through correspondence and 
conversations, appearances on radio or television discussion 
programs, publication of letters and articles in newspapers, and 
posting information on social media. Generally, attentive listening 
to the citizen and a simple explanation of what the City must 
consider in rendering a decision is a first step. If people 
understand the relevant facts, are treated courteously, and are 
given every consideration that the circumstances will allow, the 
integrity of the process and the City will be enhanced.  

  
GOVERNMENT ETHICS 

LAW: 
Oregon Government Ethics Law is found in Oregon Revised 
Statues ORS Chapter 244:  Oregon Government Ethics law: 

 Applies to all elected and appointed officials, employees 
and volunteers at all levels of state and local government 
in all three branches. 

 Prohibits use of public office for financial gain. 
 Requires public disclosure of financial conflicts of interest. 
 Requires designated elected and appointed officials to file 

an annual disclosure of sources of economic interest. 
 Limits gifts that an official may receive per calendar year. 

The general rule is that a public official, relative, or 
household member of the public official may not solicit or 
receive any gift with a value in excess of $50 in any 
calendar year from a source that could reasonably be 



Page 7 of 10 

known to have a legislative or administrative interest in 
that public official’s actions, votes, or decisions. 

  
CONFLICT OF INTERESTS:  Access the “Guide for Public Officials” by selecting this link. 

Oregon Government Ethics Commission (OGEC) offers free e-
learning training modules focusing on government ethics law, 
lobbying regulations, and executive session provisions:  
http://www.oregon.gov/OGEC/Pages/training.aspx 

The difference between an actual conflict of interest and a 
potential conflict of interest is determined by the words “would” 
and “could.” An actual conflict of interest occurs when the action 
taken by a public official would affect the financial interest of the 
official, the official’s relative or a business with which the official 
or a relative of the official is associated. A potential conflict of 
interest exists when the action taken by the public official could 
have a financial impact on that official, a relative of that official or 
a business with which the official or the relative of that official is 
associated. For both actual and potential conflicts, a public official 
must announce or disclose the nature of a conflict of interest 
before participating in any official action on the issue giving rise to 
the conflict of interest. ORS 244.120(2)(a) and ORS 
244.120(2)(b). 

 Potential Conflict of Interest: Following the public 
announcement, the public official may participate in official 
action on the issue that gave rise to the conflict of interest. 

 Actual Conflict of Interest: Following the public 
announcement, the public official must refrain from any 
further participation in discussion or voting on the issue 
that gave rise to the conflict of interest. ORS 
244.120(2)(b)(A). It is also a good idea for the public 
official to step down or away from their seat during the 
discussion to avoid any appearance of impropriety. 

  
STATEMENT OF 

ECONOMIC INTEREST 
FILING REQUIREMENTS:  

Oregon Government Ethics Commission website:  
www.gspc.state.or.us.   
Statements of Economic Interests (SEI) Forms:  

ORS 244.195(1)(2) requires the City Recorder to provide 
information about SEI filings to newly-elected officials who 
are required to file.   

 All filings are submitted electronically through the OGEC’s 
Electronic Filing System (EFS).   

 SEI filings are due on April 15 of each year.  You will be 
notified by system-generated email when the filing window 
is open.   

 Failure to file an SEI by April 15 of each year carries an 
automatic civil penalty of $10.00 for each of the first 14 
days the statement is late and $50.00 for each day 
thereafter, up to a maximum of $5,000. [ORS 
244.350(4)(c). 



Page 8 of 10 

  
COMMUNICATIONS 

COUNCIL AND STAFF  
Communication between the Council and a City employee is 
made with recognition of two facts: 

 The City employee is responsible to their immediate 
supervisor and cannot take orders from a Councilmember; 

 Each Councilmember has authority in administrative 
matters only to the extent it has been delegated by the 
Council or as delegated in City Charter; and, 

 The City Charter, Section 33(i), states a Councilor cannot 
“directly or indirectly attempt to coerce the Manager…in 
the appointment or removal of any City employee, or in 
administrative decisions regarding City property or 
contracts.” 

Councilors are able to get information about administrative 
matters by making a request during a regular Council meeting or 
speaking directly with the City Manager.  

  
ELECTRONIC DEVICE: 

 
Stipend for an Electronic Device is issued to a Councilor (4-Year 
Term) by the IT Department with City Manager authorization. The 
stipend is considered taxable income. The stipend cannot exceed 
$850, plus $20 per month Internet Data Service Stipend.  The 
electronic device is considered personal property once 
purchased. The Councilor may elect to use an existing electronic 
device and receive a $35 per month Internet Data Service 
Stipend.   

  
STIPEND: Pursuant to Council resolution, a $150 monthly stipend is 

provided to the Mayor and $100 monthly stipend is provided to 
each Councilor.  The intent of the stipend is to reimburse 
Councilors for their expenses involved with being on the Council.  
Stipends are processed through payroll and are considered 
taxable income. 

  
INSURANCE BENEFITS:  Pursuant to Council resolution, the City provides Medical, Vision 

and Dental Insurance Benefits to Councilmembers who wish to 
participate. The City currently contributes the same percentage 
as City employees (95% of the Blue Cross Premium and 
participant pays 5%). 

  
OFFICE MAYOR/COUNCIL: Key and access alarm code are assigned to each 

Councilmember. The Mayor and City Council office is located in 
the Community Auditorium, first conference room:  

 Councilmembers may use the Council office at will; 
however, if scheduling becomes a problem, the City 
Recorder can place a calendar in the office for sign up 
at specific times.  

 Equipment in the office includes a telephone for local 
calls (503-992-3331), a computer with internet service, 
and a copier. 

 Usage of the Auditorium should be booked through the 
City Recorder; staff will oversee usage of AV 



Page 9 of 10 

equipment.  The Auditorium may be rented by non-
profits and other intergovernmental agencies for 
business-related meeting purposes. Rental fees are set 
by Council resolution.  

 If using the Auditorium, please safely secure and set 
the alarm using your assigned alarm code before 
exiting. 

  
OFFICE SUPPORT: Basic office support: 

 Calendar 
 Mail/Correspondence 
 Messages 
 Expense reports and reimbursements  
 Training requests 

  
MAIL/CORRESPONDENCE: The Council mailboxes are located on the second floor of City 

Hall.  Councilmembers may check their mailbox during normal 
City business hours (9am-5pm) and/or mail is disseminated at the 
start of each meeting. Any mail left behind is recycled.   

  
USE OF LETTERHEAD: Councilmembers wishing to send letters or memos using the 

City’s letterhead should: 
 Prepare the document in draft form and deliver it to the 

City Manager or Executive Assistant to the City Manager 
for review; 

 Once reviewed, the Executive Assistant to the City 
Manager  will prepare a final document on letterhead for 
signature, copy, and mail or deliver as appropriate; 

 No document “on behalf of the City Council” may be 
written by any Councilmember without first obtaining 
permission of the Council as a whole;  

 Individual letters of thank you, congratulations, etc., do not 
require permission of the Council. 

  
TRAVEL/CONFERENCES/ 

SEMINARS: 
 

Council members are encouraged to attend the League of 
Oregon Cities (LOC) Annual Conference in late September.   
 The City Recorder handles LOC conference registration 

and hotel accommodations. 
 Other training opportunities are handled through the 

Executive Assistant to the City Manager.   
 The City pays for registration in advance. 
 The City pays for airline tickets/hotels in advance. 
 Per Diem for meals not provided by registration costs and 

private vehicle mileage reimbursement is provided. 
 Other related expenses, such as parking, are reimbursed 

pending submittal of receipts.  
 Spouse/guest may attend; however, attendee must pay for 

spouse/guest attendance for any charges billed to the City.
  

INFORMATIVE INFO: The League of Oregon Cities website: www.orcities.org.  The 
League works in partnership with its member cities to help local 



Page 10 of 10 

government better serve the citizens of Oregon.  Its primary 
functions are to advocate, inform and educate.    

  
CITY RECORDER DUTIES:  Serves as the Clerk for the Council; attends all meetings of 

the Council; records proceedings; drafts minutes that are 
submitted for Council approval and assures distribution of 
signed ordinances, resolutions, minutes, and other 
documents approved by the Council.  

 Ensures that arrangements are made for all Council 
meetings; schedules and makes necessary legal 
notification of all meetings and public hearings.  

 Prepares agenda and packet in coordination with City 
Manager and Department Directors.  

 Serves as the Election Officer for the City.  
 Oversees recruitments for Boards and Commissions. 
 Oversees the issuance of liquor licenses and renewals.  
 Oversees records management; assigns numbers for and 

maintains indexes on ordinances; resolutions, and other 
documents; updates City Code book.  

 Oversees rental of the Community Auditorium. 
 Serves as a Notary Public and administers oaths, as 

needed.  
 Provides staff and public with general information 

regarding the City Charter, ordinances, resolutions, and 
Council activities.  

 Responds to public inquiries and complaints; and provides 
public records in compliance with Oregon Public Records 
Law.  

  
CITY WEBSITE www.forestgrove-or.gov: The City Recorder will assist in getting 

photograph professionally and posting Council’s information on 
the website, which normally includes Councilor’s name, term of 
office and city e-mail address.   

  
CITY ADDRESS AND 

PHONE NUMBERS: 
City of Forest Grove 
1924 Council Street  P. O. Box 326 
Forest Grove, OR  97116-0326 
503.992.3200  Fax 503.992.3207  
City website: http://www.forestgrove-or.gov/ 
City Manager, jvanderzanden@forestgrove-or.gov, 503.992.3236 
(cell 503.329.9468) 
City Attorney – 503.226.7191 paul@gov-law.com  
Executive Assistant to City Manager, bmaughan@forestgrove-
or.gov, 503.992.3234 
City Recorder, aruggles@forestgrove-or.gov, 503.992.3235 (cell 
503.351.8505) 

 


	ModelRulesofProcedure3-15-19.pdf
	Table of Contents
	Introduction
	Disclaimer
	CHAPTER 1 – General Governance
	CHAPTER 2 – Meeting Time, Location and Frequency
	CHAPTER 3 – Ordinances and Resolutions5F
	CHAPTER 4 – Land Use Hearings
	CHAPTER 5 – Motions, Debate, Public Comment and Voting6F
	CHAPTER 6 – Minutes
	CHAPTER 7 – Appointments
	CHAPTER 8 – Ethics, Decorum, Outside Statements
	CHAPTER 9 – Interactions with Staff & City Attorney
	CHAPTER 10 – Censure [and Removal]9F
	CHAPTER 11 – Amendment and Repeal

	City Charter of Forest Grove.(Enacted MAY 19, 2009).pdf
	CITY CHARTER
	2009
	PREAMBLE
	City Charter of Forest Grove.(Enacted MAY 19, 2009).Pages.pdf
	CHAPTER I
	NAME AND BOUNDARIES
	POWERS
	CHAPTER III
	COUNCIL
	CHAPTER IV
	LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY
	CHAPTER V
	ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY
	CHAPTER VI
	QUASI-JUDICIAL AUTHORITY
	CHAPTER VII
	ELECTIONS
	(a)  Upon the incumbent’s:
	(b)  Upon declaration by the Council after the incumbent’s:
	CHAPTER VIII
	APPOINTIVE OFFICERS
	CHAPTER IX
	PERSONNEL
	CHAPTER X
	MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS





